

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2021

College Administrators Strategies to Implement Online Education Services for Increasing Enrollment Revenues

Denise Williams

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations



Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Denise Williams

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee

Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration
Faculty

Dr. Erica Gamble, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Alexandre Lazo, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2021

Abstract

College Administrators Strategies to Implement Online Education Services for Increasing Enrollment Revenues

by

Denise Williams

MA, Central Michigan University, 2014

MSA, Central Michigan University, 2012

BBA, Siena Heights University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2021

Abstract

Financial stability in higher education continues to decrease as enrollment declines. Higher education administrators who do not address declining enrollment may experience lost revenues, potentially leading to inoperability. Grounded in Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change, the purpose of this qualitative single case, descriptive study was to explore strategies college administrators use to increase enrollment revenues. The participants were four college administrators who successfully increased enrollment revenues. Data were collected using semistructured, virtual interviews and organizational documents. Yin's 5-step approach was used to analyze the data, and five themes emerged: dedicated support from leadership, enhance online services, improve communication, reinforce technology, and strengthen training and development. A key recommendation is to enhance professional development to facilitate transitioning from brick-and-mortar to online. Implications for social change include the potential to empower change makers to optimize professional development for teachers within college communities. Moreover, an effective transition of learning modalities can provide citizens with improved online services and more education access.

College Administrators Strategies to Implement Online Education Services for Increasing Enrollment Revenues

by

Denise Williams

MA, Central Michigan University, 2014

MSA, Central Michigan University, 2012

BBA, Siena Heights University, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

April 2021

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this study to my wonderful husband Pierre Williams. The support, encouragement, patience, and unconditional love he provided enabled me to achieve this important educational milestone. I would also like to thank my family. They are amazing role models, and I would not have pursued this degree without them.

Acknowledgments

A would like to thank all the faculty staff at Walden who have helped me in any way. A special thank you to my chair committee, Dr. Carol-Anne Faint, Dr. Erica Gamble, and Dr. Alexandre Lazo. Your guidance and feedback helped me to focus on the most important things so I could complete a high-quality study effectively and efficiently.

Table of Contents

List of Tables	iv
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Operational Definitions	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	8
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	9
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	10
Managing Change in Higher Education	11
Enrollment Trends	16
Face-to-Face Format	19
Online Format	20
Blended Learning	23

Benefits	25
Challenges	27
Technology in Higher Education	31
Leadership in Higher Education	36
Training and Development	39
Transition	40
Section 2: The Project	42
Purpose Statement	42
Role of the Researcher	42
Participants	45
Research Method and Design	47
Research Method	47
Research Design	49
Population and Sampling	51
Ethical Research	53
Data Collection Instruments	55
Data Collection Technique	57
Data Organization Technique	60
Data Analysis	61
Reliability and Validity	64
Reliability	64
Validity	65

Transition and Summary67
Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change
Introduction68
Presentation of the Findings
Theme 1: Dedicated Support from Leadership:
Theme 2: Enhance Online Services
Theme 3: Improve Communication
Theme 4: Reinforce Technology
Theme 5: Strengthen Training and Development
Applications to Professional Practice
Implications for Social Change
Recommendations for Action
Recommendations for Further Research
Limitations
Reflections
Conclusion
References
Appendix A: Interview Protocol
Appendix B: Research Participant Recruitment Script

List of Tables

Table 1. NVivo 12 Codin	ng Stripes Detail for	Strategy Factors	70

Section 1: Foundation of the Study

In Section 1, I explored organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues by first methodically laying out the background of the problem, the problem, and purpose statement. As I outline the nature of the study by detailing the research and interview questions, I then explore the conceptual framework, the significance of the study, and review the academic and professional literature pertaining to organization change strategies and online education service.

Background of the Problem

In higher education, administrators have used varying forms of education for many years; however, in the last 10 years, online education has become more prevalent. The diversity of students in higher education has increased dramatically in the last 2 decades and indications are that the trend will continue for the foreseeable future (Hurlbut, 2018). The fastest growing segment of learners in higher education is the online learner (Gonzalez-Gonzalez et al., 2020); comprised of both traditional and nontraditional students. Therefore, college administrators are investigating the need to move forward with offering online education to reach this rapidly growing segment of the market.

While college administrators continue to struggle with decreasing graduation rates, this has caused administrators to recognize the demand to transition from traditional to online education services to meet the diverse needs of their student population and offer a variety of instructional settings for students. As the lives of today's higher education students become busier with family and careers, the needs for

nontraditional vehicles for delivery of degree programs in higher education are becoming increasingly important to assist in preparing graduates for the job market of today and the future.

To maintain and increase financial viability, it is crucial college administrators implement new strategies to combat increasing competitive pressures, growing stakeholder demands, and population changes (Bryan et al., 2018). For traditional institutions to keep pace, they too must investigate whether online education can fit their institutional culture of academics and consider implementing online education to supplement their traditional format of offering degree programs on-campus, during the daytime hours (Elliott, 2016). To gain and maintain a competitive advantage in the highly competitive market for higher education students, traditional universities are finding it necessary to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities.

Problem Statement

Some traditional brick-and-mortar college administrators are missing opportunities to capitalize on technology advances by expanding service offerings with online learning (Gonzalez-Gonzalez et al., 2020). The enrollment growth for nontraditional students, a key demographic for community colleges, is down 20% from 2014, due to student transition from traditional to online education services (Elliott, 2016). The general business problem was that brick-and-mortar college administrators who neglect to develop online educational service options for students experience lower organization performance. The specific business problem was that some college

administrators lack organization change strategies to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single case, descriptive study was to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. The target population was college administrators at one college in Michigan who have successfully implemented organization change strategies to implement online modality education services in a traditional brick-and-mortar higher education organization to increase enrollment revenues. The potential social change benefits include flexibility in communication, customized learning environment, student scheduling improvements, enriched student satisfaction, and an innovative and productive community. Moreover, an effective transition of learning modalities can provide opportunities for citizens with improved online services and more access to education within college communities.

Nature of the Study

The three research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods (Yin, 2018). A quantitative method researcher measures the level of occurrences based on numbers and calculations and examines relationships among and between numerically measured variables with the application of statistical techniques (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Therefore, a quantitative methodology was not suitable because the purpose of my study includes no focus on examining variables' relationships or groups' differences.

Mixed methods researchers collect, analyze, and combine data of both the qualitative and

quantitative methods (Levitt et al., 2018). A mixed method was not appropriate because the method includes quantitative research and the testing of a hypotheses. Qualitative researchers attempt to collect, integrate, and present data from a variety of sources of evidence as part of any given study (Yin, 2018). I used a qualitative method to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues.

I considered three qualitative research designs to use for a qualitative study on organizational change: (a) case study, (b) ethnographic, and (c) phenomenological. A qualitative, descriptive, single case study is a valuable research technique in the exploration of organization change strategies to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. A single case study design is an investigation of what, how, and why an event is influenced by its context relating to a personal experience (Yin, 2018). The use of a single case study allows the researcher the opportunity to gain a deeper understanding of the participant responses and organization document data. An ethnographic design includes researcher immersion into a participants' natural setting by watching routine, daily interactions, and listening to conversations over a prolonged period (Trnka, 2017). Ethnography was not appropriate for this study because the research question does not indicate the need to embed within the population. Similarly, a phenomenological design researcher explores the meanings of human experiences through the descriptions provided by the participants (Thompson et al., 2017). A phenomenological design was not appropriate because I did not focus on descriptions of the meanings of participants experiences in the study. Understanding the

college administrator's strategy of increased online education service opportunities may improve effectiveness and increase enrollment revenues. Therefore, the qualitative single case was appropriate for the study because of the in-depth understanding of real-life phenomena and rational conclusions.

Research Question

The central research question for this study was as follows: What organization strategies do college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?

Interview Questions

The following interview questions were used to address the research question:

- 1. What organization change strategies did you use to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?
- 2. What served as an organization catalyst to use organization change strategies to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?
- 3. What experiences relating to change management did you use during the planning phase to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?
- 4. What experiences relating to change management did you use during the implementation phase to provide online education service opportunities?
- 5. What organization change strategies worked best to develop and implement online education service opportunities?

- 6. How was the effectiveness of the organization change strategies to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenue evaluated?
- 7. What principal barriers did you experience when implementing organizational change strategies to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?
- 8. What did you do to overcome principal barriers to implementing organizational change strategies to develop and implement online service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?
- 9. What additional information would you like to share about organization change strategies used to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenue.

Conceptual Framework

The conceptual framework for this study is Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change. Kotter's (1995) eight-stage process for change provided a model by which administrators may enact successful and sustainable change. According to Kotter (1995), to create a successful implementation of change the process goes through a series of eight phases which include (a) creating a sense of urgency regarding the need for change, (b) creating a guiding coalition, (c) develop a vision and strategy, (d) communicate the change vision, (e) empowers employees, (f) create short-term wins, (g) combine gains and make more change, and (h) attach new approaches in the corporate culture. Kotter's eight steps has three macro phases: creating a climate for change,

engaging and enabling the organization, and implementing and sustaining the change. Kotter's model to conceptualize the change process was relevant to my study because implementing change strategies to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues within educational organizations involves organizational change.

Operational Definitions

This section provides the meanings of common terms in this study.

Administrator: Administrators are individuals who are responsible for achieving college objectives through instructional and faculty responsibilities (Esfijani, 2018).

Brick-and-mortar school: A brick-and-mortar school is a traditional school setting within a physical building or classroom (Quezada et al., 2020).

Nontraditional student: Nontraditional students are individuals over 25 years of age who are working and attending college (Chung et al., 2017).

Online education or distance education: Online education or distance education is an option of learning in which learners enroll in a degree program that certified faculty teach through educational institutions with technological capabilities through internet use by a computer system (Bryan et al., 2018).

Online educational services: Online educational services are education-related services to support teaching-related functions (Hurlbut, 2018).

Online learning: Online learning is a method of teaching and learning that uses technological capabilities and internet connections to teach students with limited or no face-to-face time during instruction (Hurlbut, 2018).

Traditional learning: Traditional learning is the instruction of students in the same location at the same time to complete degree programs (Chung et al., 2017).

Traditional student: Traditional students are individuals between 18 and 24 years of age (Chung et al., 2017).

Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations

Assumptions

Assumptions are facts the researcher considered to be true before verifying actual evidence (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). There were three assumptions in this study. The first was that a qualitative methodology is an appropriate methodology for the study. The second assumption was that Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change was an appropriate conceptual framework for exploring organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. The third assumption was that the interviewees would be open and truthful with their responses.

Limitations

Limitations are potential circumstances that could affect the research method which cannot be addressed by the researcher (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). One limitation was that I am limited to the organization document data and interview responses provided by the participants. Participants may affect the authenticity of the findings if their responses are not honest.

Delimitations

Delimitations represent the scope of the study that researcher set for the study (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Because my purpose was to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues, I selected participants who worked as college administrators. I further restricted my selection of participants to those who lived in Michigan.

Significance of the Study

The study findings may be of value to business organizational change initiatives within higher education, specifically the traditional, brick-and-mortar institutions that are exploring the use of online education services to remain competitive in the marketplace with changing demographics. The information and analysis in this study may provide leadership strategies used by administrators to investigate the need to adapt, implement, and evaluate the change management for adding online education service opportunities into their traditional, brick-and-mortar institutions to increase enrollment revenues. The findings from this study may contribute to the effective practice of business improvement, a decrease in costs, and others may experience increased employee involvement and efficiencies.

The results from this study might contribute to positive social change by empowering change makers and to optimize professional development for teachers within college communities. The information in this study may prove useful for strategic administrators implementing a transition of learning modalities and increase access to

education. With more access to education, communities' citizens could be more innovative and productive. Also, college administrators could potentially identify organization change strategies for developing more efficacious learning environments. The results from this study may also create more accessible and affordable education opportunities for citizens within college communities.

A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative, single case, descriptive study was to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. The business problem was that brick-and-mortar college administrators who neglect to develop online educational service options for students experience lower organization performance. The research question was "What organization strategies do college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?" As the conceptual framework for this study, Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change is the first topic covered in this literature review. Once I explain the conceptual framework, I present a synthesis of the topics and ideas that emerged from a review of the relevant literature and critical analysis of various sources. Exploring how institutions have managed change provided a basis for this study. Reviewing the history of online education or distance education as it has evolved in various forms, along with its various uses within institutions, was explored.

Selecting and identifying literature for this review required comprehensive search strategy and synthesis. The review of the literature is imperative to the research process

because it helps inform the reader of research opportunities, research design, data interpretation and analysis, and conclusions of previous studies (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The literature was reviewed for understanding what online education is, and its various forms, enrollment trends, managing change in higher education, administration involvement in online education, and leadership in higher education. To implement change in the form of online education, institutions need to have leaders throughout the entire process. Reviewing the literature on leadership in higher education helped to identify its importance in the change process as well as identify successes and failures of leadership on related projects of online education implementation.

Managing Change in Higher Education

Organizations are facing a continuous state of uncertainty in today's world of increased competition, technological breakthroughs, and globalization. Change management has been implemented in almost every aspect of all business sectors because the world is a constantly dynamic community, where the opportunities and risks rotate regularly. The work environment is significantly different than it was a decade ago. Technology is altering the way companies operate and how the workforce communicates. These factors have resulted in competition for resources. The key factor in obtaining great opportunities in this constantly changing environment is within proper change management.

Several factors influence the success of change management and organizational change within higher education. According to Appelbaum et al., (2017), the term "change" implies to the disruption of the present conditions prevailing in the external and

organization, or it can be operational with less impact. Several key aspects relevant to change management significantly affect the success or failure of an initiative: leadership, governance, management, organizational culture and the approach to learning and training relevant to the organization (Appelbaum et al., 2017). Similarly, Palumbo and Manna (2019) highlighted the importance of preparing staff for the change, "assessing the human dimension", "managing fear and anxiety" and clearly specifying the "function of change teams". Change initiation and management is most successful if individuals understand the rationale for change and believe in its benefit before supporting it more widely and allowing the initiative to move forward with critical mass (Andrade et al., 2019). Managing change as part of a deliberate process has its own set of challenges.

For change to be effective, it must be desirable. A successful change management campaign should help the stakeholders understand the organization's change by effectively communicating problems with the current system and soliciting advice in making the transition successful (Kotter, 2007). This desirability toward change is where an actionable vision comes into play. King et al. (2018) suggested that creating a desirable and compelling message about what the change is intended to achieve will create an identity among the stakeholders and develop an understanding of what will be delivered to service users. Moreover, the proposed change should be relevant. The organization must present a vision to stakeholders by outlining its goals and illustrating how the change system will achieve them. This process should break down the benefits and how they apply to the stakeholders. The literature suggests that a change plan must

be in place. Wentworth et al. (2020) argued that it is impossible to move forward without a goal because the organization's members must know what comprises the new plan and why it is vital to be implemented successfully.

Communication is one of the critical areas of importance in any change management plan. Organizations with a great vision can serve a useful purpose even if just a few people understand it (Kotter, 2007). Undeniably, the real power of a vision is released when most of those involved in an enterprise understand its mission. Baloh et al. (2018) studied the importance of communication in a hospital setting change process and found that it was of utmost importance in determining if a team could communicate about hurdles. The researchers found that if obstacles could be transmitted along the way with a well-designed plan on overcoming the barrier, then the stakeholders had a much better chance of being successful. Kotter (2012) argued that employees tend to resist change more when introduced suddenly and they have little time to adjust. It is essential in any change effort for the organization to release information as soon as possible and then roll out the change process in incremental steps.

Wentworth et al. (2020) found that early success in an organization centers on the time of a change process. Getting staff on board promptly is vital in announcing and promoting change efforts. These methods can be used as a change model for an organization and demonstrate its effectiveness in the change process (Wentworth et al., 2020). An organization should choose widely respected individuals amongst their teams. Change agents should train these employees first and allow them to set a positive and encouraging atmosphere while guiding other employees through the change process. The

literature recognizes that attitudes are a crucial driver of individual behaviors (Rafferty & Minbashian, 2019). Rafferty and Minbashian (2019) acknowledged change readiness as a mediator of relationships amongst the change beliefs and positive reactions around change and supporting behaviors.

Institutions of higher education have a significant role in promoting change to sustainable development models as centers of knowledge and innovation. As such, business organizations seeking effective change management commonly refer to Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change. Kotter (1995) introduced an eight-stage model for implementing significant change as a process that includes building strong collaborative teams with a solid strategy, creating effective communication channels, supporting staff empowerment, using a phased and strategic approach, and securing the change within an organization's culture. Kotter's eight-stage model provides a tested, workable method to manage large-scale change in organizations (Kang et al., 2020). In addition to creating a sense of urgency, the stages of Kotter's model also focus on creating a guiding coalition, developing a compelling vision and strategy, communicating to leaders and staff, empowering others, celebrating wins through reinforcement and momentum, and ensuring the change is aligned with the organization's culture. To facilitate effective change, there are best practices listed in the literature that should support and expedite a successful change management initiative. Kotter (2007) suggested that significant change is often said to be impossible unless the organization's leader is an active supporter. Kotter described building a powerful coalition. Within that coalition should be an

individual with strong commutation, collaboration, and problem-solving skills and the capacity to work effectively in various situations.

Administrators implementing this model are selecting the right change agents, making change desirable, making change relevant, communicating the change on all levels, recruiting help from within, fully integrating the change, and giving the change process time to develop (Appelbaum et al., 2017). The change process, in its initial stages, can be challenging and unpredictable. It is crucial that an organization plan to select the right change agents that will support the change process and keep it running smoothly from the beginning. Specht et al. (2018) described change agents as sponsors that promote change initiatives in organizations, actively construct their environment, and act as a catalyst in convincing their organization to support relevant issues. Similarly, Specht et al. examined how change agents implemented projects to improve teaching climates in a university setting with a strong research tradition and found that if a change agent can successfully motivate stakeholders, they can keep them engaged and shape the environment.

A change-management approach driven by management can be useful where clear, tangible outcomes can be predetermined with confidence and there is agreement on the desired outcomes (Kotter, 2007). Change-management outcomes can also be influenced by several additional factors including technology issues, personnel changes, perceived pressure to deliver, opposition, project creep, and unofficial procedures and systems (Palumbo & Manna, 2019). It is much more effective to adopt Kotter's change model when the change management starts with the senior leadership.

Kotter (2012) stated that cultural change comes last, not first. One of the major barriers to creating change in a group is culture. Therefore, organizations must follow the best practices of ensuring that the change process is retained. Assisting with employee adaption to change faster and is significant to keeping a change effort in place. Change agents and other key stakeholders should continue to check in with their teams and encourage their employees to provide feedback on the modified operations and identify what is working and what is not. More importantly, change is a process, and it must be given time. Organizations should be flexible and collaborative, allowing them to perfect the change effort even if it looks different from when it started. As Kotter argues, if organizations are not prepared for a change in the future, they might be left behind in an everchanging business environment.

In contrast, innovation is not the only reason for the change. An innovative and robust culture within the organization will provide a relationship to remain relevant in the future (Kotter, 2007). Influential leaders have confidence in improvement and able to articulate what activities are necessary (By et al., 2018). Organizational culture is often seen as a building block, and organizational leaders must ensure that culture is devoted to quality (By et al., 2018).

Enrollment Trends

To maintain and increase financial viability, business and academic leaders must continue to deliver products or services that meet and exceed consumer expectations.

While college tuition is steadily increasing, college debt is at its highest and a secondary degree is the most sought-after form of advancing one's life (Manning-Ouellette &

Black, 2017). Online courses are attractive because they are cost effective, convenient for college students, and often fit better into an individual's schedule. Discovering the management strategies that are likely to influence students' selection of online or face-to-face class format may allow administrators to manage budgets more efficiently.

In the United States, many state governments are in severe debt. This debt has an impact on higher education, as some state governments have cut higher education funding by 10% or higher since 2007 (Jacob & Gokbel, 2018). Furthermore, reductions are evident as officials in at least 37 states made deep financial cuts to higher education with budgets reflecting 2008 levels for 2012 (Jacob & Gokbel, 2018). These reductions have resulted in students having the option to take courses in a face-to-face, online, or a hybrid setting. Governments worldwide continue to diversify their higher education financing models, with a trend of providing less proportionately than they have in the past. There is a growing global push toward greater government oversight to help stem the tide of financial corruption that exists in some areas of higher education. Although the course modalities that college students in the United States experience learning in has changed, properly managing cost efficiencies considering reduced funding levels is a significant responsibility of government officials (Jacob & Gokbel, 2018).

The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES, 2006) reported that enrollment in increased by 17% between 1984 and 1994 within higher education institutions. Further, enrollment increased 21% between 1994 and 2004 to 17.3 million students. Between 1999 and 2015, the number of students enrolled in at least one online course increased from 10% to 30% (NCES, 2018). Of the 6 million students currently

enrolled in at least one distance-learning course, close to half are enrolled in programs that are offered exclusively online (Allen & Seaman, 2017; NCES, 2018). According to Allen and Seaman (2017), approximately 7.1 million college students have taken at least one online course. There is a lack of data related to student preferences for online and traditional course selection even though enrollment has risen (Allen & Seaman, 2017). Identifying and understanding the challenges experienced by higher learning intuitions transitioning from traditional to online education can lead to an increased positive effective learning experience. Many institutions now offer degree programs that can be completed entirely online. The Distance Education Enrollment Report compiled by BABSON Survey Research Group highlighted that, between 2012 and 2015, the number of students enrolled in distance-learning degree programs increased from 12.6% to 14.3% (Allen & Seaman, 2017). This enrollment growth demonstrates that distance learning continues to be a desired platform. High attrition rates, however, are alarming to both educators and the institutions providing these programs (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018).

According to Manning-Ouellette and Black (2017), the cost of higher education continues to increase at an alarming rate. Public and private funding sources are increasingly under pressure to reduce allocations toward higher education while at the same time raising outcome expectations. Due to growing financial deficits and constraints, public higher education institutions in the United States are accepting larger numbers of applicants from overseas and out-of-state locations to the detriment of residents (Jacob & Gokbel, 2018). There is also a trend toward increased admissions standards, which often are coupled with increased tuition prices. The variation in the

quality, cost, and prestige of higher education programs has led to growing competition among students, seeking to enter high quality and elite institutions, acquire better and marketable degree qualifications, and secure employability in an increasingly competitive labor market (Jacob & Gokbel, 2018). Furthermore, students also tend to put a significant effort to link their higher education experience with their future participation in the job market. Thus, graduate employability and the transition from higher education to the workforce remains a major issue. Ultimately, due to these changing competition trends, people are willing to invest more of their time, resources, and efforts in the promise that employability skills, which are more closely aligned with industry needs, will better enable them to find quality jobs.

Face-to-Face Format

The delivery formats of college administration provide students to continue to expand because of technology advancement. A face-to-face classroom allows the instructor to be committed to just one block of time, provide structure and immediate feedback, teach with direct eye contact, and respond immediately to questions (Clayton et al., 2018). Similarly, students continue to enroll in classes taught in the traditional form, which requires less than 30% of course content delivered virtually (Allen & Seaman, 2017). With the introduction of online learning, initial presumptions included on-campus delivery yields improved performance because students have access to interactivity, professor immediacy, and immediate feedback (Dumford & Miller, 2018). Various research studies have concluded opposing results: Asarta and Schmidt (2017) found no difference in student performance between the delivery modalities, whereas Baldwin et

al. (2018) discovered students performed better in online classes than traditional courses. An analysis of the reasons for selecting an online educational setting also aligns with the benefits of flexibility, convenience, and self-paced learning (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018). The traditional learning format also allows for a deeper level of comprehension through in-person interactions, material synthesis, idea generation, and linkages to academic or real-world topics, resulting in learners holding instructors to higher knowledge standards (Clayton et al., 2018).

Online Format

The fast-growing pace of computer technology and the changing needs of adult learners have increased the use of distance education (Susanto et al., 2020). An online classroom allows the instructor to organize online communication via emails, discussion boards, chats, and web conferencing. The rapid growth in online higher education, in terms of course offerings and student enrollment, has often been celebrated on the grounds that moving education online is an innovative way to increase the accessibility of education (Blankenberger & Williams, 2020). Community colleges have increasingly embraced online education and enrollment is rapidly rising throughout the United States (Lee, 2017). Higher learning institutions are working on strategic plans in response to these changes in enrollment demands to implement online education. The literature addresses student satisfaction and achievement as two means to assess the quality of online education. Furthermore, some researchers found that online education can be effective as traditional classroom instruction.

Recognizing the challenges and critically giving thought to mend or meeting the demand for online learning is a positive step to prepare for a successful transition. Lenert and Janes (2017) supported the idea that online instruction and traditional instruction are similar. However, online faculty members assume more roles and must be prepared to demonstrate more competencies when teaching (Lenert & Janes, 2017). Although online and traditional teaching may share similarities and the challenges may be minimal, there are novel factors to consider when teaching online. Administrators and faculty must understand the differences between traditional teaching and online teaching to offer quality education and services.

According to Levy (2017), online education is a continuing and developing medium of providing educational access to millions of learners throughout the world. Administrators must be prepared to offer instruction and services to diversified adult learners. Asarta and Schmidt (2017) realized the challenges faced when transitioning into online teaching and the globalization impact. They designed a model of teaching to address the needs and preferences of a global learning population to provide effective teaching and support student learning.

Hurlbut (2018) defined online learning as a method of teaching and learning that uses technological capabilities and internet connections to teach students with limited or no face-to-face time during instruction. Though learning does transpire through technology, the amount of technology is significant as web-based learning necessitates delivering at least 80% of the course content virtually (Allen & Seaman, 2017). The integration of electronic communications, such as email, text messages, instant

messaging, web conferences, and previous experience with distance learning, has positively influenced students' acceptance of online education. New communicative options have eliminated the exclusivity once associated with web-based distance education (Dumford & Miller, 2018). The functionality of class management systems has also benefited from technological advancements; resulting in a streamlined distribution of course information and social networking tools, such as discussion boards, chat rooms, and meeting spaces (Dumford & Miller, 2018).

The popularity of online education continues to grow as many college students attend classes while engaging in other activities related to work and family (Filak & Nicolini, 2018). Traditional students are no longer between 18 and 21 years of age, full-time students who live on campus. Many students work between 20 to 35 hours a week or work full-time and attend college full-time (Andrade et al., 2019). In addition to work and family commitments, travel schedules, as well as campus location, may prevent students from participating in a traditional learning environment. Commitments and other challenges support prior research that suggests the most common reasons students select virtual courses because of flexibility and convenience (Clayton et al., 2018). The acceptance of online education also continued to increase with a growth rate of over 100% between 2002 and 2007 (Allen & Seaman, 2017). With such a significant growth rate in five years, individuals could assume that all institutions support virtual learning, yet this is not an accurate assumption.

Resistance by administrators is prevalent at some institutions as leaders strive to maintain a reputation as an elite institution that provides higher quality education through

face-to-face instruction (Klempin & Karp, 2018). Leadership at these elite institutions is resistant to online education and does not include virtual learning in their strategic planning (Levy, 2017). Regardless of a college's status, revenue is largely dependent on student enrollment. Institutions that do not adjust to the demands of their student body may experience a reduction in enrollment. Students may select other institutions that support their balance of work, family, and higher education (Filak & Nicolini, 2018). It is essential for college administrators to understand the needs of their students and provide reasons to select or remain at their college.

In addition to responding to students' needs, traditional brick-and-mortar institutions that integrate online offerings are experiencing the benefits of expansion in an institution's geographical reach (Filak & Nicolini, 2018). Online course offerings also increase enrollment numbers as students have greater scheduling flexibility, and the infrastructure investment required with a traditional learning format lack (Levy, 2017). It is beneficial for administrators to be aware of the benefits and challenges of online learning, thus ensuring the maximization of revenue growth opportunities.

Blended Learning

In higher education, a growing number of universities and colleges offer blended learning courses for students, to join the best features of both class teaching and online learning to promote active, self-directed learning opportunities for students with added flexibility. Blended learning has steadily increased in the past decades and has been an effective approach for accommodating a diverse student population. Blending significant elements of the educational environment such as traditional and online learning lead to

better student experiences and outcomes with more efficient instruction and course management practices. Evaluating the effectiveness and knowing which environments work best are critical for course management.

According to Cundell and Sheepy (2018), a key determinant of effectiveness is the ability of the online environment to engage the learner within blended learning. There is evidence that blended learning has several potential benefits compared to traditional and online courses. These benefits include providing students with more control over learning and helping students foster creative and critical thinking, improving students' learning achievements, enhancing students' learning satisfaction and reducing stress level, and producing a stronger sense of community among students (Serrano et al., 2019). A better learning achievement is a persistent concern in education. Some studies have reported the effectiveness of blended learning on students' learning achievements as compared with traditional learning.

Wei et al. (2017) explored the effects of blended learning at a university in information science course by using a learning management system and found that students' academic achievements were better than expected. Findings from similar research conducted by Ibrahim and Nat (2019) demonstrated that blended learning had the potential to improve students' achievements on exams when compared to a traditional classroom model. Serrano et al. (2019) found that blended learning should be viewed as an opportunity to restructure the way courses are developed, delivered, and scheduled through a combination of physical and virtual instruction. The inconsistent results

showed that the effect of blended learning on students' learning achievements is still unclear.

Benefits

There are advantages to the learning process that are not readily available in other ways. The most prominent of these are more access to learning; better allocation of teaching resources; shared learning content; deeper learning; and a social component to learning. It is evident that the learning potential of technology can provide solutions to the growing demand for education, skills, and training.

The benefits associated with a face-to-face learning environment include instructor and student interactions, more significant course structure than an online class, immediate feedback, connectivity through a high degree of two-way communication and visibility, body language, familiarity, and learning by listening to teacher's experiences (Clayton et al., 2018). Benefits for online learning include flexibility, convenience, self-paced learning, reaching a larger population, elimination of logistical demands, more personal dialogue between instructor and students, and development of practical skills (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018). Convenience and flexibility are benefits students most commonly cite of online classes, yet the benefits of convenience and flexibility are also applicable to faculty who can teach anyplace or anytime, this includes being in a different state or time zone (Filak & Nicolini, 2018).

An additional element of flexibility is students' ability to learn at their own pace. Self-paced learning is possible because students have continuous access to all course materials and can manage when and how they participate in the class (Hobson, &

Puruhito, 2018). Online education also eliminates demands such as commuting, parking, and daycare as students can participate in learning without physically being in a classroom. Institutions are also able to maximize available resources through the elimination of overcrowded classrooms and scheduling challenges, and family obligations (Levy, 2017). More courses can also be offered during highly demanded times as a physical location is not necessary (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018).

According to Dumford and Miller (2018), most students who take classes online live within 50 miles of the campus. Although 50 miles may not seem like a significant distance, it could result in significant travel time. The online format also improves institutions servicing a larger population of students no longer hindered by logistical challenges (Susanto et al., 2020). The elimination of logistical challenges is beneficial to the institution and students. Similarly, the inclusion of virtual teams allows management to bridge time and space through attaining a broader geographic reach (Arasaratnam-Smith & Northcote, 2017); a benefit not associated with face-to-face platforms.

Although the level of interaction might vary by course, online students do report greater participation through electronic communications, fewer peer distractions, and less instructor favoritism (Levy, 2017). Though virtual learning offers numerous benefits, the discussion of obtaining practical skills may lack. A significant functional ability of online learning relates to the use of cutting-edge technology and an increase in personal literacy of computer applications. Additional skills include enhancing time management skills, reading and writing comprehension, taxonomy of critical thinking, and problem-solving skills through self-reflection (Asarta & Schmidt, 2017). Although many of the practical

skills apply to on-campus classes, obtainment of the skills could evolve at a deep level since students are more responsible for personal learning in an online environment.

Best practices applied in the online classroom can be transferred to the face-to-face classroom to improve student learning in any environment (Lee, 2017). Additionally, instructors require time each week to administer an online course, though work on asynchronous courses can be conducted at times that are most convenient for the instructors' schedule in each week. Less committed time in their schedules may result in the instructors' ability to serve on committees or attend meetings related to campus or community service.

Challenges

Contrary to andragogical assumptions about adult learners, distance students in higher education frequently express frustrations attributable to their lack of skills in self-regulating their learning, including basic time management (Dumford & Miller, 2018). Thus, their learning processes often proceed more slowly than their or institutional expectation. Institutions of higher learning generally set the pace for educational innovation; however, some higher education faculty members are not convinced of the value and legitimacy of distance education. A great number of students report that it is challenging to complete courses, and that they tend to spend more time to complete their courses than the 'standard' time allotted (Dumont & Raggo, 2018). Further challenges include isolation, quality concerns, information overload, communication distortion, technology issues, greater self-discipline and motivation, lack of social cues, and unrealistic expectations (Dumford & Miller, 2018).

Although students have the flexibility with web-based learning, a feeling of isolation or disconnectedness may result if students struggle to create an identity for themselves in a virtual classroom (Dumont & Raggo, 2018). Feelings of seclusion are also relevant to virtual work teams as employees could become detached from the work and other team members (Arasaratnam-Smith & Northcote, 2017). A lack of community through student-to-student and student-to-instructor interactions could influence the amount of isolation students' experience, which affects the sense of belonging in the learning environment (Mullen, 2020). To reduce or eliminate the feeling of isolation, faculty need to develop course material that is engaging and promotes collaboration through discourse, resulting in inhuman interaction and a greater sense of community (Dumford & Miller, 2018). A lack of social cues might also influence students' feeling disconnected since voice tone, eye contact, and nonverbal communication are not present in online learning. A lack of social cues could also affect the faculty ability to assess learners' emotions, feelings, attitudes, and understanding of materials (Asarta & Schmidt, 2017). To balance the lack of social cues, instructors and students need to have clear and precise written communication (Asarta & Schmidt, 2017).

Many students prefer online education because of the convenience and flexibility it provides; however, misconceptions and unrealistic expectations associated with webbased learning could have negative implications. Misconceptions may include: (a) course content is easy to understand and navigate, (b) decreased time commitment, and (c) little interaction exists since web-based learning may function as an independent study instead of a structured learning environment (Anthony et al., 2019). A student's experience with

online learning also influences misconceptions. Students with significant web-based learning confirmed that virtual courses were more difficult, required more time per week, viewed virtual classes as more favorable, and greater learning occurred than in traditional courses (Mullen, 2020). Students with no online experience disagree with the confirmations of students with web-based experience (Mullen, 2020).

The amount of time required for web-based courses is not specific to students as teachers often cite increased workload because web-based course takes longer to prepare. According to Lee (2017), 64% of instructors indicated teaching virtual classes takes somewhat more or a lot more time because the response is in the form of written communication, which requires more time than oral communication (Asarta & Schmidt, 2017). In addition to time constraints for lecturers, written communication may also present a challenge. Challenges with written communication might include personal interpretation, a lack of social cues, and poorly written messages. These challenges could result in message distortion and require several exchanges to come to an understanding (Asarta & Schmidt, 2017). An additional challenge student's encounter is dealing with large amounts of written course content, especially at the start of a class. Learners could feel overwhelmed and uncertain of how to manage the material, resulting in the overlooking of relevant information. If students feel overwhelmed, they might not take the time to read the syllabi carefully, may skim longer emails, or miss course announcements, resulting in lost information (Anthony et al., 2019).

Technological advancements have played a vital role in administrators offering online classes as well as teaching students through unique environments (Asarta &

Schmidt, 2017). Although technology plays a pivotal role in web-based learning, it is often a key frustration for learners. The use of technology could result in students feeling anxious, questioning their ability to manage course requirements, feeling that they lack proper training to participate effectively in the class, or the inability to adjust to situations when technology does not work properly (Kebritchi et al., 2017).

Regardless of students' expectation of online learning, motivation and selfdiscipline is necessary. According to Clayton et al. (2018), a student's enthusiasm influences class participation as well as the ability to receive, interpret, and comprehend concepts that are harder to learn as direct contact with the instructor decreases. Students' motivation may also influence their aptitude to expand their skills, knowledge, or task performance of a specific reward. The attributes all positively support a student's success (Filak & Nicolini, 2018). Asarta and Schmidt (2017) maintained that students should have greater self-discipline to ensure reading, understanding course materials, and properly executing class deliverables as each student controls the review of instructional material. According to Klempin and Karp (2018), the perception among administrators and faculty reflects that online education is inferior or somewhat inferior to face-to-face learning. At the same time, there is no accepted assessment of quality process assurance to measure the quality of online learning (Evans et al., 2017). Similar to misconceptions, individuals' experiences with online learning influence their quality perception and favorability of the learning format. Mullen (2020) stated that students who had not taken a virtual class believed more learning took place in a traditional classroom because of the ability for live debate and interaction, compared to Wei et al. (2017), who stated students receive a quality education in both delivery modalities.

Technology in Higher Education

Online education, and the technology that drives it is causing a significant shift in the perception that traditional academia has about the culture of teaching and learning in higher education. Technology remains essential in the development and expansion role of online education. Therefore, many colleges have reported an increase in the use of online educational services. Over the past decade, administrators have sought to integrate developing internet technologies into instruction and learning in higher education.

Logistical challenges college students encountered two decades ago have attenuated because of technological advancements. This change is apparent with enrollment in online education steadily rising.

Tokareva et al. (2019) research revealed that many in higher education cling to the ideal that includes soft-focus images of professors wearing academic regalia, students reading on grassy quadrangles, and ancient, ivy-covered buildings. The current reality is that higher education must compete for prominence, and often survival, in a global society. In this competition, it is unlikely that thoughtful investment in and use of technology will serve to differentiate the winners and losers (Tokareva et al., 2019).

Tokareva et al. (2019) identified various reasons for the need to change. First, the number of students being served by institutions of higher education is increasing while the funding to educate this increase in students has remained static. Second, society is forcing higher education to change. More careers are requiring post-secondary degrees,

so traditional-age students are staying in school longer while nontraditional students are returning to school to earn a degree or a second and even third degree. Third, students require more flexibility in their degree program by requesting a variety of vehicles for offering courses and services at varying times and locations.

Advances in online education have been portrayed as a solution to the rising cost of postsecondary education and a means of improving access to higher education (Klempin & Karp, 2018). To meet the rapidly changing demands of students, technology in the form of online education is being implemented by colleges and universities worldwide. Extensive reorganization and restructuring are required for the implementation of online education. Utilizing a systems perspective that is built around total teamwork amongst the organization is a crucial success factor to managing change. However, since most institutions of higher education operate on a "Fordist" model steeped on the structure and distinct hierarchies, change has been difficult. This traditional model works with a top-down management style that exhibits a tremendous amount of inflexibility and slowness to change (Tokareva et al., 2019). Thus, meeting the rapidly changing needs of the students is difficult at best.

Drewes et al. (2018) reported that organizations will not prosper in the years ahead without a vibrant and innovative community of diverse technical talent. The accurate measure of innovation is the ability to convert technology into products, services, and solutions that transform institutions of higher education to deliver new and lasting value. Also, these changes should be designed to enrich the quality of life for everyone they serve. Innovation does not happen in isolation. It occurs through

collaboration across diverse communities within higher education. Therefore, the integration management area of project management will play a key role within institutions undertaking projects to change (PMI, 2000).

Research by Tokareva et al. (2019) showed the need for change management related to technology in higher education as being built around a strategic framework comprised of five factors: strategy, technology, structure, management processes, staff skills, and roles. The framework served as an aid to help construct an overall picture of the key factors and stakeholders, as well as manage the transition holistically in nature, also known as a systems-type of change management. Those universities that genuinely embrace this holistic approach by acting as learning organizations have proven successful in making the transition from a traditional brick-and-mortar institution to an academic institution that includes technology, distance education, and online education. Hobson and Puruhito (2018) reported findings related to the work of Tokareva et al. in attempts to incorporate technology via online/distance education into their existing strategic framework. The researcher showed that the framework was intended to aid the leaders in determining if the state's policy priorities and the role it assumed aligned with higher education's structure. However, his findings showed that there was little if any alignment between the different areas of the South Dakota higher education system, and as a result, infusing technology via online education would be challenging at best.

The research performed by Okunoye et al. (2006) on Enterprise Resource

Planning (ERP) implementation in higher education suggested a pre-implementation plan

along with implementation phases. They provided substantial evidence that systems do

exist to implement change into traditional academia a manageable process. The ERP system brings integration to numerous business activities within complex organizations. By using methodologies outlined in the PMBOK, AGORA University was able to successfully transform itself from a traditional university into one that infused technological change into its entire business processes, including program delivery via online education. An early stage of the PMBOK's strategies for managing projects is to pre-plan by developing a comprehensive project plan that has input from all employees (key stakeholders). With the development of the project plan, implementation, and evaluation systematically fall into place throughout the life cycle of the project (PMI, 2000).

The work of Okunoye et al. (2006) found that by engaging employees in the preimplementation phase of the projects, leaders (project managers) can gather all attitudes and reactions of the key stakeholders that will be involved in supporting the change. With the complexity of higher education (Appelbaum et al., 2017) requiring optimum planning, gaining full involvement early in the process by employees is often the key to making or breaking a significant change in higher education.

The Web is critically important in assessing the impact and fulfilling the potential of managing change in higher education (Martin et al., 2018). The Web is the focus of online courses. Therefore, Martin et al. outlined the critical factors for combining the Web with a university IT staff and faculty members to make online education an effective part of university academic offerings. Martin et al. reported that a critical component to the success of the implementation of online education was the inclusion of the faculty

members providing the instruction. Once the faculty has embraced the change and accepts the technical and instructional training to be successful, a key factor for success will be in place (Martin et al., 2018).

Klempin and Karp (2018) reported on community colleges managing the changes of implementing online education through technology into their academic offerings. Linking technology closely to institutional mission and goals and working with a broad range of stakeholders before the financial decisions increased the likelihood of buy-in and helped to smooth a rough decision process of change. In addition to engaging trustees and faculty in financial decisions, strong leadership and specific implementation plans are needed to guide a procedure that may substantially alter the structure, culture, and functions of the college (Evans et al., 2017). A broad-based team approach is most likely to capture the best thinking for strategy development (Tokareva et al., 2019). Community colleges have embraced distance education to provide increased flexibility and access to their large numbers of nontraditional students. As a result, more courses are now supported by online technology or offered entirely online. As institutions implement online education, the need to understand change management in higher education is vital to the success of such projects. In addition, it is essential institutions of higher education diversify the methods of delivering courses to the changing requirements of the marketplace.

Although some discussions in the literature relate to effective practices in the use of emerging technologies for online education, there is evidence lacking support of the effectiveness of such technologies and guidance on how to use the tools efficiently.

Research has demonstrated that colleges are staying current with technological innovations resulting in improved course development outcomes and satisfaction.

Leadership in Higher Education

As online learning becomes a strategic focus of colleges and universities, the effectiveness of online education administrative leaders assumes an increasingly critical role in achieving institutional goals (Page & Schoder, 2019). According to Drewes et al. (2018), a change in the learning culture is deep and pervasive, affecting all aspects of the organization, is intentional, and occurs over time. Important characteristics of change are clarity and communication of vision, the inclusion of all employees in the change process, and the need to approach change holistically, interdependently, and concurrently to ensure the change initiatives strengthen not weaken the intended outcome.

Administrators as well as other institutional staff are key players in initiating successful programs and activities for students. They are critical to a student's need for a myriad of services and functions. Staff, at all levels, play an important role on college campuses and are active in providing support services to faculties and administration. Additionally, staff at all levels in the institution play a significant role in assisting all groups of students in their transition to college. Effective and efficient operation of an institution requires experienced, highly trained, competent administrators to be successful in carrying out institutional vision and goals (Hassan et al., 2018). It is imperative leaders continue the processes that keep the institution functioning effectively. They must continuously analyze and be seen to respond to the evident needs of students, staff, and other stakeholders.

To change the traditional institution of higher education to include online education, strong leadership and careful planning are critical to the success of any attempt at campus-wide technology change, especially online education. Incorporating online education into the academic experience is an essential part of becoming more responsive to the needs of higher education's diverse constituencies (Tokareva et al., 2019). To compete in higher education which contains the ever-changing needs of learners, change is necessary. Change may require a redefinition of organizational values through values-based leadership. To redefine a traditional institution with an infusion of online education, a deep change is needed in the learning culture of the institution.

There is a rising recognition that leadership development is vital to various types of organizations, including institutions of higher learning (Faupel & Sub, 2019). Leaders are held responsible for the success and failure of planned change initiatives (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018). The leadership role for creating a meaningful environment in the success of a planned change is critical (Hobson & Puruhito, 2018). Page and Schoder (2019) mentioned that one of greatest challenges of any leader in higher education is to effect change and bring staff together to consider preferred futures and current realities.

Effective leaders are likely to engage in planning, understand the nature of the change, seek to engage with the external environment and understand when to exert authority, influence, and power (Hassan et al., 2018). Similarly, Page and Schoder (2019) maintained that successful organizations have great leaders consistently, an argument that could have resonance in the context of institutions of higher education.

Leadership is critical in determining the results of change-management programs (Appelbaum et al., 2017). During periods of change management, leaders must demonstrate skills and behaviors that deepen commitment, align strategies, focus actions, expand capabilities, and clarify progress. Hassan et al. (2018) described higher-education leaders as having many multi-faceted roles such as experts, beneficiaries, heroes, tyrants, negotiators, and facilitators. Faupel and Sub (2019) found that a similar effort is needed in higher learning institutions to develop leadership skills. Leaders working within a distributed leadership model also require specific leadership literacies to ensure they are effective (Page & Schoder, 2019) and positively influencing change-management outcomes. Drewes et al. (2018) also highlight the importance of professional development for leaders in higher education, particularly those involved with changemanagement initiatives. Leaders develop adaptability of employees for new roles after the change is implemented. A benefit that remains an organizational priority of leadership development is that leaders advance the business by using their improved leadership skills.

It is critical that leaders express an inspirational vision, and effectively communicate it via multiple channels to improve change readiness. Leadership skills and abilities are positively associated with success in implementing change being capable of communicating, coaching, involving others, all in order to motivate, reward and build teams, and calls for their critical ability to recognize and respond to individual needs during change (Appelbaum et al., 2017). The literature on trends in general leadership research within community college leadership has explored positions of formal authority

college presidents and other high-level administrators. Given the urgent calls for higher education reform, a growing body of literature is defining college leadership more broadly by applying theories of change management to higher education (Klempin & Karp, 2018).

Training and Development

Due to increased use of technology and the popularity of online courses for advancing student learning, many faculty members are confronting the compelling challenge of online teaching. Based on existing literature and national survey data about faculty resistance to online teaching, faculty described hesitation and frustration about online teaching. Faculty professional development is the best route to helping instructors improve their professional knowledge and alter their classroom practice to promote higher student achievement (Drewes et al., 2018).

Training and development are crucial for administrators who are implementing new roles and competencies in online learning environments. Transition to online teaching requires advanced levels of instructor training and support (Adnan, 2018). Many colleges offer support and skills training in the form of informal learning environments, mentoring, in-service training, or structured certificate trainings. The adoption of new strategies and skills to create an effective teaching presence for successful teaching and learning is essential, irrespective of discipline, and certainly applies to online language teaching.

Faculty support is a critical component of quality online education. The literature suggest that faculty perform different roles between the traditional classroom versus the

online classroom. Research of faculty development indicate that such programs have a positive impact on transitions from a traditional to an online setting. Satisfaction is key in determining the effectiveness and quality of online education. Examining student, staff, and faculty satisfaction aids researchers to understand the process, as well as determining success of the overall design and implementation (Vo et al., 2017). Cutri and Mena (2020) noted that faculty members believe that their willingness to participate in online transitions has enabled universities to gain a competitive advantage in today's higher education marketplace. Budget cuts and decreasing population of college-age students create enrollment and financial pressures for college administrators (Mansbach & Austin, 2018). The researcher's highlighted focus on a range of circumstances, including part-time, full-time, tenured, and non-tenured faculty members from different disciplines, some of whom are new to online teaching and others who are not. The literature suggests that there is an opportunity for professional growth motivated faculty to teach online.

Transition

In this section, I included a discussion of the study's problem, purpose, nature, research questions, and interview questions. The research question aligns to the study purpose to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. In addition, I described the conceptual framework, operational definitions, assumptions, limitations, delimitations, and significance. In the conceptual framework, I explored and synthesized existing literature on online modality organization change strategies.

Section 2 contains details of the current research, including the purpose statement,

the role of the researcher, and methodological decisions, such as the population and sampling strategy. The section also includes a discussion of ethical considerations and strategies for data collection, organization, and analysis. In Section 3, presented study findings and their application to professional practice. In addition, Section 3 includes implications for social change and recommendations for future research.

Section 2: The Project

In Section 2, I describe the anatomy of this study on the organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. The section begins with the purpose statement, the role of the researcher, and a description of study participants. I also discuss the research method, ethical considerations, data collection, instrumentation, data organization, data analysis, reliability, and validity.

Purpose Statement

The purpose of this qualitative, single case, descriptive study was to explore organization change strategies that college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. The target population was college administrators at one college in Michigan who have successfully implemented organization change strategies to implement online modality education services in a traditional brick-and-mortar higher education organization to increase enrollment revenues. The potential social change benefits include flexibility in communication, customized learning environment, student scheduling improvements, enriched student satisfaction, and an innovative and productive community. Moreover, an effective transition of learning modalities can provide opportunities for citizens with improved online services and more access to education within college communities.

Role of the Researcher

Qualitative research is critical as the researcher collects data and implements analysis (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The role of the research involves a thorough

understanding of the purpose of study (Cumyn et al., 2018). According to Yin (2018), the primary responsibility of the researcher is to safeguard participants and their data. Cumyn et al. (2018) refined the role of the researcher and developed a standard the researcher should apply. Therefore, my role in this study is was as an observer-as-participant, as I was the primary instrument of data collection and analysis that who collected, coded, and analyzed the data from organization document data and interviews to uncover the emerging concepts and patterns.

I have worked with community colleges located throughout Southeast Michigan for the past 4 years. My experience in academia and services for nontraditional students is the reason for my interest in this research topic. My experience as a faculty member could add value to the research through an understanding of the participant's experiences. Because I have some knowledge of effective transitions from brick-and-mortar to online education services, I did not influence the participants by sharing my personal beliefs or thoughts.

It is crucial that all researchers are aware of research ethics. Ethics relate to two groups of people; those conducting research, who should be aware of their obligations and responsibilities, and those who have basic rights that should be protected (Yin, 2018). Because research often involves a substantial collaboration among participants, it is important to follow ethical standards such as those established by the National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects in Biomedical and Behavioral Research [NCPHSBBR] in the *Belmont Report* (NCPHSBBR, 1979). The *Belmont Report* is a standard for ethical treatment of human used in research (NCPHSBBR, 1979).

It was imperative that I remained aware of the ethical implications of data collected in my research. I followed the requirements outlined in the *Belmont Report* and ensure ethical practices in current research. The requirements outlined in the NCPHSBR includes ethical treatment of participants, respect for the individual, ensuring informed consent, and assurance that I would not benefit personally from research. Ethical standards promote the values that are essential to collaborative work, such as honesty, accuracy, and fairness (NCPHSBBR, 1979). The study, therefore, was conducted fairly and eliminated all potential risks.

In addition to ethical practices, it was important to reduce bias. One way to mitigate bias is to balance the act of being objective and nonjudgmental in my thoughts, observations, and actions (Klamer et al., 2017). I work in higher education part-time and have taught as an adjunct instructor since June 2017. During my employment, there was a transition of brick-and-mortar to online service programs. However, I do not hold any of the position titles that was identified in my study. Therefore, the likelihood of any bias as the researcher in the analysis and the interpretation of data is unlikely as there is a minimal level of connection between me and leadership involved in the implementation of online education.

An interview protocol includes questions that the researcher should discuss during an interview (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Kumi-Yeboah et al. (2017) used semistructured interviews to explore the perceptions of minority graduate students toward online collaborative learning activities. Likewise, Gonzalez-Gonzalez et al. (2020) explored the motivational factors when accepting and implementing online learning using qualitative

semistructured interviews. Therefore, semistructured interviews and organization document data were used to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. The protocol served as a guide to reframe deviating of the original purpose and to use consistency. I constructed an interview protocol which is in Appendix A. The focus of the semistructured interview questions gave me the flexibility to implement themes and concepts and the opportunity to understand experiences and knowledge of how policies impact administrator's experiences with online services.

Participants

Qualitative researchers rely on interviews to support their study as reliable (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). During the research process, the selection of eligible participants is significant (Yin, 2018). I selected participants from a single college in Michigan. Eligible participants were college administrators who have successfully implemented organization change strategies to online modality education services in a traditional brick-and-mortar higher education organization to increase enrollment revenues. The selection of participants from an organization with characteristics that aligned with the study was appropriate because participants served as representatives of the larger group (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Maher et al. (2018) used a similar approach with a single case study by selecting participants from an institution in the early implementation stage of adoption to explore factors that influence strategy, structure, and decisions of blended learning adoption.

After I received approval from the Walden University Institutional Review Board (IRB), I began the process of recruiting and selecting participants for this study. Gaining and maintaining access to participants is often a difficult task (Amundsen et al., 2017). To gain access to eligible participants, I used the contact information of administrators available on the college website. The website provides public contact information of their employees and promotes services. I used the publication as the major source for determining the institution and target population for the study. All communication with administrators was conducted through email and phone.

I sent the participant recruitment request (Appendix B) to 10 college administrators. I contacted the potential participants to explain my study, provide total disclosure, and ask for them consent to participate in the study. A key component of recruiting study participants is to provide total disclosure about the study to them (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Potential participants were contacted by phone and e-mail, and they were invited to participate in the study. After the participants agreed to participate in the study, I provided them with a consent form to sign.

It is crucial that researchers build a working relationship with participants.

Amundsen et al. (2017) noted that securing access to participants and research site requires two-way open communication. Communication must be facilitated among researchers for a collaboration of knowledge to occur (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Yin (2018) advised researchers to give respondents adequate time to review the consent form and address any concerns and clarification. To establish a working relationship,

researchers should build good rapport by providing an environment for a warm, friendly, and relaxed environment to share experiences (Yin, 2018).

The purpose of the study should be the primary factor when choosing participants for a qualitative study (Yin, 2018). The selection process for eligible participants must align with the research purpose (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The participants must have significant experience within the subject area to provide substantial relevant information (Bokolo et al., 2020).

I followed recommendations from other researchers to develop a rapport with study participants. Accordingly, during the virtual semistructured interviews, I developed rapport and encouraged forthcoming responses by detailing the study purpose, establishing eye contact, asking follow-up questions, and providing a secure environment that allows for relaxed conversation. These strategies helped me communicate my level of interest to participants while creating an environment that facilitated open and honest responses.

Research Method and Design

Research Method

The process of determining the research method included the evaluation of qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches. I chose to use a qualitative method to gather rich, meaningful data on organization change strategies college administrators use to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. Qualitative research serves as a platform for exploring and understanding social phenomena (Yin, 2018). Likewise, using the qualitative method, the

researcher could have open discussions with participants regarding phenomena under investigation (Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Qualitative researchers explore participants in their natural setting (Levitt et al., 2018). Therefore, the qualitative approach was appropriate for this study.

A quantitative method researcher measures the level of occurrences based on numbers and calculations and examines relationships among and between numerically measured variables with the application of statistical techniques (Saunders et al., 2015). Quantitative studies involve statistical tests and provide less depth than qualitative methods (Yin, 2018). Quantitative researchers focus on relationships among variables by testing theories using structured data collection methods (Yin, 2018). According to Bryman and Buchanan (2018), the quantitative researcher can answer researcher questions according to the statistical analysis results. Therefore, a quantitative methodology was not suitable because the purpose of my study did not focus on examining variables' relationships or groups' differences.

Mixed methods researchers use a combination of qualitative and quantitative approaches. Mixed methods researchers collect, analyze, and combine data of both the qualitative and quantitative methods (Yin, 2018). According to Guetterman et al. (2019), researchers who use mixed methods provide deeper understandings of analyzed data from both qualitative and quantitative research methods. The mixed methods approach involves using a qualitative method to explain, discuss, and justify the results of the quantitative analysis (Levitt et al., 2018). A mixed method was not appropriate for this study because the method includes quantitative research and the testing of hypotheses.

Qualitative researchers attempt to collect, integrate, and present data from a variety of sources of evidence as part of any given study (Yin, 2018). I used a qualitative method to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues.

Research Design

I chose a single case study for this research study. The case study design was appropriate for my study because it allowed me to gather data from participants in an unbiased way while exploring the meaning of the case under study. I considered three qualitative research designs to use for a qualitative study on organizational change: (a) case study, (b) ethnographic, and (c) phenomenological. A qualitative, descriptive, single case study was a valuable research technique in the exploration of organizational change strategies to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. A single case study design is an investigation of what, how, and why an event is influenced by its context relating to a personal experience (Yin, 2018). Marshall and Rossman (2016) found that the key features of the case study are defined cases aligned with a study's intent, and multiple data sources and analysis procedures. In qualitative designs, researchers draw conclusions from data, such as interview transcripts, common themes, and trends among participants responses (Yin, 2018). Therefore, the qualitative single case was appropriate for the study because of the in-depth understanding of reallife phenomenon and rational conclusions.

An ethnographic design includes researcher immersion into a participants' natural setting by watching routine, daily interactions, and listening to conversations over a

prolonged period (Saunders et al., 2015). In ethnography, researchers provide a cultural understanding of entire cultures (Yin, 2018). As Trnka (2017) explained, ethnography involves formal descriptions of people in their native habitats. In addition, ethnography requires extensive, long-term work in the field (DeVaney et al., 2018). Ethnography was not appropriate for this study because the research question does not indicate the need to embed within the population.

Similarly, a phenomenological design researcher explores the meanings of human experiences through the descriptions provided by the participants (Saunders et al., 2015). Phenomenology involves the exploration of individuals' interpretations and perceptions of experiences (Thompson et al., 2017). The focus of phenomenology is individuals' lived experiences of phenomena, which is often explored via qualitative interviews (Yin, 2018). A phenomenological design would not be appropriate because I did not focus on descriptions of the meanings of participants experiences in the study. Understanding the college administrator's strategy of increased online education service opportunities may improve effectiveness and increase enrollment revenues. Therefore, the qualitative single case was appropriate for the study because of the in-depth understanding of real-life phenomena and rational conclusions.

Researchers use data saturation as a standard for discontinuing data collection and analysis in qualitative research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). According to Yin (2018), data saturation is achieved at a single stage when the interview questions do not offer any further information. Sim et al. (2018) mentioned that the focus of qualitative research should not be maximizing numbers but attaining data saturation. Therefore, I explored

different models of saturation across different qualitative approaches. In the current study, data saturation was necessary to ensure I captured all key themes and categories related to the study site's organizational change strategies.

Population and Sampling

I selected a purposeful sampling method for this study. According to Yin (2018), purposeful sampling allows for the criterion-based selection of the subset of participants who meet specific inclusion criteria. Gentles and Vilches (2017) noted that through purposeful sampling, researchers can select participants who are experts in their fields. Sim et al. (2018) maintained that there are criteria for regulating nonprobabilistic sample sizes and suggested to use the saturation point as a determinant for the appropriate sample size. Therefore, I used the purposeful sampling method to select three participants as my initial sample, which was increased to achieve saturation.

Four individuals' administrators participated in individual semistructured interviews. The participants were four college administrators at one college in Michigan. The participants were administrative leaders in higher education who have successfully implemented organizational change strategies to implement online modality education services in a traditional brick-and-mortar higher education organization to increase enrollment revenues. Choosing participants with the necessary experience and expertise allowed for rich and more meaningful data. When interviewing qualitative research participants, the selection of experts in the field allows researchers to explore topics in detail (Yin, 2018). According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), the criteria used for selecting participants should be from an organization with characteristics that align with

the study. Marshall and Rossman's approach were appropriate because participants served as representatives of the larger group. Maher et al. (2018) used a similar approach with a single case study by selecting participants from an institution in the early implementation stage of adoption to explore factors that influence strategy, structure, and decisions of blended learning adoption. Eligible participants were college administrators who have successfully implemented organization change strategies to online modality education services in a traditional brick-and-mortar higher education organization to increase enrollment revenues. The selection of participants from an organization with characteristics that aligned with the study was appropriate because participants served as representatives of the larger group.

Researchers also must consider the settings in which interviews occur. As recommended by Castillo-Montoya (2016), I held each interview virtually using Zoom online meeting software. The four individual interviews took place separately. I provided an environment that allowed for casual and safe conversation that created a sense of privacy which encouraged participants to provide more information. The selection of the interview and location is purposeful to promote privacy and rich discussion.

Fusch and Ness (2015) defined data saturation as the stage when there is no additional information that the researcher can observe in the data. Nelson (2017) stated that at saturation, the researcher sees similar instances repeatedly and is confident that no additional data are being found. Therefore, I ensured that data saturation was reached at the point when there was enough data to ensure the research question was answered.

Ethical Research

A critical element of research is the assurance of ethical practices during data collection and analysis (Carey & Griffiths, 2017). Karbwang et al. (2018) suggested that researchers apply ethical practices in research. Ethics refers to data collection and data analysis procedures (Klamer et al., 2017). I ensured ethical research by obtaining informed consent from all study participants. The consent form and a copy of the interview protocol detailed a description of the purpose of the study and participation requirements. The process of informed consent added assurance of ethical practice. The consent form offers participants the option to withdraw from the study at any point during the research process (Shahu et al., 2017). Participants should be free to stop participating without any adverse social or economic consequences (Bryman & Buchanan, 2018). Marshall and Rossman (2016) advised researchers to inform participants to send notification of any need to quit the study.

My process for ensuring ethical practices began with the study invitation, which I emailed to prospective participants. Once a participant agreed to the study, I assigned him or her to an individual interview. Next, I sent the individual a consent form and a copy of the interview protocol (Appendix A). I asked the participant to return the consent form to me by email. Securing a participant's consent to take part in the interview, including reviewing the risks and voluntary nature of the participation is part of ensuring quality research process (Carey & Griffiths, 2017). I ensured receipt of participants' consent forms by asking participants to email me back to indicate they have received the

information. At that time, I also scheduled semistructured interviews at the designated location and addressed participants' questions and concerns.

Researchers should offer instructions to respondents concerning the nonreceipt of monetary compensation and incentives for participating in the study (Kelly et al., 2017). I did not provide study participants with any incentives to participate. However, I followed up with participants with summary of the research findings and a thank you note.

In addition to collecting data through face-to-face and virtual semistructured interviews, I conducted a document review of the strategic plan to validate organization change strategies reported during the semistructured interviews. I secured the written strategic plans from institution's website. The benefit of document analysis is the data that consists of existing written text that requires no obtrusive collection methods. Also, document analysis is free of unwanted interactions that can occur during semistructured interviews (Klamer et al., 2017). For research conducted within organizational settings, document analysis can provide insiders' perspectives while allowing researchers to explore data across multiple groups and geographic locations (Bryman & Buchanan, 2018). Finally, organizational documents provided context as they represent the strategy of the organization, making them useful resources grounded in the real world (Marshall & Rossman, 2016).

The protection of participant confidentiality is critical to ethical research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Watkins (2017) maintained that after ending the study, the researcher should keep all study materials locked up safely for 5 years in a personal filing cabinet. I stored all research data on my personal password protected computer to protect

the names of individuals and organizations confidential. The study materials included the interview records and transcripts, the study organization strategic plans, all electronically received consent messages and forms, and all analysis documentation.

As required by Walden University, I will store the study materials for 5 years with a password-encrypted folder. After 5 years, I will hire a professional data destruction company to destroy all study documentation, including digital and hard copies of data. To ensure confidentiality, I used pseudonyms in lieu of participants' names in all study materials. In addition, no one other than I will gain access to the stored hard copies of the data. I will not use the data collected from the research participants for any other purpose other than the intended study. To ensure a higher level of confidentiality, Yin (2018) noted that researchers suggest participants sign a nondisclosure agreement on the nature of the study. Finally, prior to gathering data I secured a Walden IRB approval number. Walden University's approval number for this study is 07-17-20-0741055, and it expires on July 16, 2021.

Data Collection Instruments

I was the sole collector of data for this study. As the primary data collection instrument, I collected data using semistructured interviews and organization documentation. According to Moser and Korstjens (2018), qualitative researchers are the primary data collection instruments in qualitative research. Marshall and Rossman (2016) noted that interviewers should interview participants who had experienced the phenomenon. Kumi-Yeboah et al. (2017) took a similar approach when gathering data from face-to-face semistructured interviews to explore the perceptions of minority

graduate students toward online collaborative learning activities. I opted to conduct semistructured interviews virtually instead of face-to-face to maximize safety among participants and myself. The primary data sources for this study included individual semistructured interviews and organizational documentation to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues.

According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), field notes can help researchers remember important details for later. Yin (2018) maintained that researchers should take notes and audio record the interviews during the data collection process. Castillo-Montoya (2016) advised researchers to create an interview protocol as a guide for simpler data collection. The interview protocol served as a guide to reframe deviating of the original purpose and to use consistency. I constructed an interview protocol which is in Appendix A. The focus of the semistructured interview questions allowed me the flexibility to implement themes and concepts and the opportunity to understand experiences and knowledge of how policies impact administrator's experiences with online services. A review of organization documentation allowed me to note any discrepancies with interview data. After the semistructured interviews, I thanked each participant for their contributions and conducted a follow-up with a phone call to verify the accuracy of the analysis and interpretation. Therefore, semistructured interviews and organization document data were used to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues.

The data collection instrument's reliability and validity were useful in validating interview responses (Yin, 2018). According to Fusch and Ness (2015), triangulating primary and secondary data sources can improve the reliability and validity of data. In addition to methodological triangulation, I employed member checking to ensure validity and reliability. Member checking is the process of validating the accuracy of the interview analysis with interview participants (Williams, 2020). Following the interviews, I had audio files professionally transcribed and conducted for initial analysis and interpretation. After completion of the analysis and interpretation of the interviews, I contacted participants via email to set up a phone call to review the analysis and interpretation of the interview summary for the member checking process.

Data Collection Technique

For this qualitative single case study, I collected data via virtual semistructured interviews and organizational documents as data sources. The use of semistructured interviews in this study allowed for open-ended questions and discussion. Semistructured interviews are productive discussions that allow researchers to explore research topics in detail (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Bryman and Buchanan (2018) declared that semistructured interviews involve the use of an interview guide, to collect similar types of data from all participants, thus creating a sense of order. Bryman and Buchanan added that during semistructured interviews the researcher is free to change the order and wording of the questions and to ask additional questions for clarification Marshall and Rossman (2016) maintained that semistructured interviews allow researchers to ask follow-up questions to ensure all key ideas are captured.

According to Bryman and Buchanan (2018), a benefit of open-ended interview questions is that researchers capture the experiences of participants. Castillo-Montoya (2016) noted that semistructured interviews has the advantage of allowing the interviewer to work flexibly with the guide and allowed room for the interviewee's clearer descriptions and narratives. Another significant advantage of in-person interviews is that they allow researchers to gain additional context through conversations when observation alone is insufficient (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). In addition, semistructured interviews provide participants with opportunities to modify or adjust questions and their responses to them while placing the researcher close to the data (Yin, 2018).

Although there are many benefits to in-person, semistructured interviews, there are also challenges with this form of data collection. (Klamer et al., 2017) noted that new researchers using this technique found it hard to identify where to probe for responses and leaving out necessary data. To avoid this problem, I practiced the interviews in advance. Another disadvantage is the difficulty for participants to make time for semistructured interviews, and it may be challenging for researchers to accommodate participants' schedules (Bryman & Buchanan, 2018). According to Yin (2018), it is also possible that visual cues provided to researchers during face-to-face interviews can negatively impact interactions. However, research conducted by Maher et al., (2018) indicated that visual cues had little effect on interview data quality.

In addition to collecting data through virtual interviews, I used organization documents. Organization documents is a significant contribution in data collection within case study research (Yin, 2018). For research conducted within organizational settings,

document analysis can provide insiders' perspectives (Klempin & Karp, 2018) while allowing researchers to explore data across multiple groups and geographic locations. According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), document analysis is free of unwanted interactions that can occur during semistructured interviews. An advantage of organizational documents is that they present background, context information, and insights that can be valuable supplements to an existing knowledge base (Yin, 2018). Organizational documents provide context as they represent the strategy of the organization, making them useful resources grounded in the real world (Yin, 2018). Despite the many benefits of document analysis, this type of data also has potential disadvantages. For example, organizational records are not always accurate and may contain some bias. In addition, document analysis can be time-consuming and inappropriate for exploratory research (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Therefore, I used the data collected from organizational documents to support data from the semistructured interviews.

I used member checking to ensure validity and reliability. Member checking is the process of validating the accuracy of the interview analysis with interview participants (Williams, 2020). During member checking, qualitative researchers show participants the interpretations of the analyzed data to check the accuracy of the researcher's understanding of the participant's discussion (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Sharing study findings serve as a method of employing member checks (Bergh et al., 2017). Following the interviews, I transcribed audio files and conducted an initial analysis and interpretation. Upon completion of the analysis and interpretation of the interviews, I

contacted participants via email to set up a phone call to review the analysis and understanding of the interview summary for the member checking process.

Data Organization Technique

The purpose of this qualitative, single case, descriptive study was to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. Marshall and Rossman (2016) advised researchers to keep a research log to store interview schedules and other valuable information. Desouza and Jacob (2017) maintained that researchers need to assign a unique code to each respondent to safeguard identities and maintain privacy.

Data collection included hard copy and digital forms. I used the same audio recording device to record the semistructured interviews digitally but saved the recordings as separate files. I also took field notes during the semistructured interviews. According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), field notes can help researchers remember important details for later analysis and interpretation.

All the data that was collected for this study was input into NVivo data analysis software. I used NVivo data analysis software to organize collected data. Microsoft Excel was used to create graphs from the data that was generated in NVivo. NVivo can be used to organize unstructured data. Unstructured data consists of audio files, videos, text, and photos (Desouza & Jacob, 2017). I also used NVivo to transcribe the recorded interviews. Virtual interviews were conducted using Zoom online meeting software.

Upon completion of the semistructured interviews, I transferred the field notes from my journal into a word processing document. During the five-year period, researchers should keep the hard copy under lock and key, and the electronic versions with a password (Renner et al., 2018). I stored all study data on a cloud server that is password-protected for five years following the research. Following the five-year period, I will hire a professional data destruction company to destroy all study documentation, including digital and hard copies of data.

Data Analysis

Data collection and analysis is developed together in an iterative process (Yin, 2018). Data analysis consists of examining, categorizing, tabulating, and testing both quantitative and qualitative evidence to address the initial propositions of a study (Saunders et al., 2015). Yin's 5-step approach was a valuable part of the analysis and enhanced validity of my case study. Analyzing the data enhanced by referencing existing literature and using it to raise questions about whether the findings are consistent with or different from extant research.

Triangulation may include multiple methods of data collection, such as observation, interviews and documents review and data analysis but does not suggest a fix method for the researcher's review (Yin, 2018). The methods chosen in triangulation to test the validity and reliability of a study depend on the criterion of the research (Rizvi, 2019). Yin (2018) advocated that triangulation in case study method have a major strength for example, the researcher could use many different sources of evidence in data collection. Furthermore, the need to use multiple sources of evidence far exceeds that in

other research methods, such as experiments, surveys, or histories. To improve the analysis and understanding of construction of others, triangulation is a step taken by researchers to involve several investigators or peer researchers' interpretation of the data at different time or location (Yin, 2018).

To analyze the data for this qualitative study, I used methodological triangulation. Methodological triangulation involves the use of multiple sources of data on the same subject and is useful for identifying points of convergence within the data (Abdalla et al., 2018). Method triangulation can result in identifying points in divergence that provide opportunities to covey a deeper meaning in data (Yin, 2018). Researchers also use method triangulation to strengthen the validity of a case study (Yin, 2018). Therefore, because method triangulation involves the use of multiple data sources, it was the most appropriate for my study.

After receiving approval from Walden's IRB, I began collecting data using semistructured interviews and document analysis and observation. During the analysis process, I addressed the research question. The data within my study consisted of the responses arising from interviews and organization documents. According to Marshall and Rossman (2016), interview questions should support the framework for the study. I complied all the data and notes I collected in Microsoft Excel and Word, and I saved electronic data in electronic folders on a secure, password-protected computer. I transferred collected data into NVivo data analysis software to disassemble and assign codes to categorize the data. I used NVivo to reassemble data and identify patterns, themes, and negative outliers in the data. I used NVivo to organize the data. NVivo is

useful for organizing data for analysis because it allows researchers to assign searchable markers, flag text, and create data clusters. NVivo is useful in uncovering common themes among the data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016) which enhanced my manual analysis. It is important to note that researchers do not perform any data analysis using NVivo software, but instead can identify categories and themes, and effectively organize clusters of information.

The categorizing strings of text into thematic clusters can help determine if there are gaps in the data (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Researchers should derive basic units of meaning from the data collected from the participants (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) maintained that the researcher should ensure that findings addressed the overall research question. Therefore, NVivo was the most suitable data analysis tool for this study.

Organizing data into key themes is helpful for data interpretation (Yin, 2018). According to Carey and Griffiths (2017), the process of thematic content analysis begins with reading the data to develop an in-depth understanding of it. The next step was to create categories of the data as key themes start to emerge (Carey & Griffiths, 2017). Themes emerge from analyzing the interview transcripts (Yin, 2018). After developing a preliminary list of categories, I reconciled the data to eliminate unnecessary categories. I also searched for similarities between categories to organize them into themes and subthemes. Using NVivo, I compared this study's literature review to any newer studies that were published after this proposal was approved, along with Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change conceptual framework for this study. This comparison allowed me to correlate any key themes and began developing the findings for this study.

Reliability and Validity

Researchers use reliability as the processes to ensure data is consistent.

Qualitative research achieves trustworthiness through credibility, transferability, dependability, and confirmability (Karagiozis, 2018). The validation of data collected from semistructured interviews can occur through member checking, bracketing, and methodological triangulation (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Yin (2018) noted that researchers could maintain the quality of case study research by consciously bracketing their views and putting the focus of the study on understanding perspectives of the participant. In this study, I consistently followed data collection and analysis processes, interview protocols, and data collection and validation techniques for research quality to enhance trustworthiness.

Reliability

Maher et al. (2018) noted that researchers need to record thoughts about decisions made throughout research to enhance dependability and transparency of the process. Therefore, using only one concept of reliability could become a problem for qualitative researchers. Adhering to consistent interview protocols can improve the reliability of the study (Thomas, 2017). Recording the semistructured interviews, documenting the data collection process, and journaling throughout the current study ensure a consistent process that allows for replication (Yin, 2018). Qualitative researchers must take specific steps to ensure reliability (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). Dependability is an aspect of reliability in qualitative research, which is the consistency in the research procedures (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). Transcript review can aid in the dependability of the data

(Castillo-Montoya, 2016). Such tools as the interview protocol and member checking process allows researchers to contribute to the dependability of the study (Brear, 2019). The decisions I documented during collection was helpful to develop final themes and subthemes.

Validity

To uphold the quality of research, qualitative researchers focus on four areas of the research findings (Yin, 2018). Yin (2018) maintained that the criteria for judging the validity of qualitative research involved credibility, confirmability, and transferability. Ensuring credibility, transferability, and confirmability can add to the validity of qualitative research (Rose & Johnson, 2020).

Credibility involves the process of exploring the research subject through the participants viewpoints (Yin, 2018). Methodological triangulation of data sources adds to the credibility of the data by allowing the researcher to review multiple sets of data (Crick, 2020). Ensuring credibility is critical to allow other researchers to leverage the study findings and transfer the data of their research (Rashid et al., 2019). Data collected throughout the study, including field notes, data summaries, member checking, and analysis procedures provided an audit trail and allowed for reflection of the data and study findings.

Transferability refers to whether a researcher can communicate the findings from a study to the audience and apply them to other settings or groups (Yin, 2018). Marshall and Rossman, (2016) emphasized that researchers of a qualitative study should state the boundaries of the study to the readers. Yin (2018) noted that the researcher can address

transferability by describing the context of the study and the characteristics of the participants. Adhering to strict protocols and processes throughout the study can allow for transferability (Maher et al., 2018). To enhance transferability, I adhered to the protocols and processes for data collection, analysis, and reporting described in this study.

Researchers use confirmability to validate the participant's data output with the removal of personal bias (Nelson, 2017). Likewise, Galdas (2017) suggested that the use of confirmability is to explore the assumption that researcher bias influence the results of the study. Confirming the output of the interviews can help remove personal bias as it allows the participant to review the interpretation of their words. There is a need identify the extent to which researchers can support the research results. Therefore, I addressed the issue of confirmability using the method triangulation.

Researchers use data saturation as a standard for discontinuing data collection and analysis in qualitative research (Fusch & Ness, 2015). According to Yin (2018), data saturation is achieved at a single stage when the interview questions do not offer any further information. Sim et al. (2018) mentioned that the focus of qualitative research should not be maximizing numbers but attaining data saturation. Ensuring data saturation addresses the research question and confirm if the findings are valid (Fusch & Ness, 2015). Therefore, I explored different models of saturation across different qualitative approaches. Once new data tends to be redundant of data already collected, I determined that data saturation was reached. At this point, I stopped collecting information started analyzing what was collected.

Transition and Summary

The purpose of this qualitative, single case, descriptive study was to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. In Section 2, I outlined the study purpose, my role as the sole researcher, criteria for participants, rationale for my selected design of a single case study, population, sampling strategy, and the ethical procedures I followed. In addition, I outlined data collection instruments and thematic analysis techniques, and reliability and validity. Section 3 contains an overview of collecting and analyzing data, presentation of the findings, professional application, implications for social change, recommendations and further studies, and my personal reflection and conclusion.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change Introduction

The purpose of this qualitative, single case, descriptive study was to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. College administrators were the selected target population for this study. Data for this study came from semistructured interviews conducted with four college administrators at one college in Michigan. The findings for this study included insight into the change strategies that college administrators have chosen to use and the factors that have influenced their decisions and education services. The five themes that emerged from data analysis include (a) dedicated support from leadership, (b) enhance online services, (c) improve communication, (d) reinforce technology, and (e) strengthen training and development. The findings showed strategies that administrators used to implement online education services to increase enrollment revenue. This section includes a thematic presentation of study findings. In addition, I discuss the application of findings to professional practice, implications for social change, and recommendations for action and future research. Finally, I close the study with my reflections and conclusions.

Presentation of the Findings

The overarching research question was "What organization strategies do college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues". To retain confidentiality for the four study participants, they are identified as P1, P2, P3, and P4. The participants were administrators employed

at the same college in Michigan and have worked there over 5 years. This information helps to show that the participant perspectives are reliable in offering information to address this research study due to the years of experience in administration.

Using NVivo 12 software to code, cluster, and organize data, I discovered five major themes: (a) dedicated support from leadership, (b) enhance online services, (c) improve communication, (d) reinforce technology, and (e) strengthen training and development. All four study participants acknowledged these themes in describing what factors have influenced their organization change strategies. The five major themes relate to the conceptual framework for this study because the themes are factors that support the successful implementation that the four study participants chose to put in place for their institution. The conceptual framework for this study is Kotter's (2007) eight-stage process for leading change. Kotter's eight-step process is designed to ensure change managers create the right environment to effect change, develop the support they need to make the change happen, and keep the momentum going throughout the change process. The data collected from P1, P2, P3 and P4 included evidence that supports Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change.

I used NVivo transcription services to transcribe the study participants' interview responses. I then used NVivo 12 software to code the interview transcripts. NVivo 12 software was helpful in identifying frequencies in words used in the interview transcripts. Several factors emerged during the data analysis process. NVivo 12 has a coding stripes feature. Coding stripes are colored bars that researchers can use to see how they have coded data. Table 1 includes all the factors that emerged from the study participants'

interview responses when I analyzed the interview transcripts. I used the coding stripes feature to determine the connection between the factors and the participants.

Table 1NVivo 12 Coding Stripes Detail for Strategy Factors

Organizational Change Strategy Factors	P1	P2	P3	P4
Organizational Change				
Strategies	X	X	X	X
Management	X	X		X
Types of Learning				
Online Learning	X	X	X	X
Blended Learning	X	X	X	
Remote Learning	X			X
Barriers & Challenges				
Training and Development	X	X		X
Technology	X	X	X	X
Communication	X	X		X
Services				
Online Services	X	X	X	X
Support Services	X		X	X
Student Services		X	X	X
Library Services		X	X	
Enrollment Revenues	X	X		X

Theme 1: Dedicated Support from Leadership:

Dedicated support from leadership emerged most frequently as a factor affecting study participants. All four study participants identified dedicated support from leadership as a factor that affected their decision about the type of organization change structure they put in place. Further, dedicated support from leadership emerged was a

major factor for the study participants as they decided the types of business management strategies to obtain.

Reviewing the participants' organizational documents provided additional evidence in support of dedicated support from leadership as a major theme. The participants collectively developed strategies to meet the overarching vision and reported against milestones for assessment-tool redesign and development stretch targets. The vision and associated strategies were developed based on common change-management principles. It became imperative to manage any resistance and offer additional support services to staff as part of the change-management process. The senior educators and administrative staff were primarily responsible for motivating and facilitating assessment-tool development in a supportive manner. The support staff had no positional influence and could only report on progress based on their personal experience. Some team members felt personally responsible for not being able to shift staff motivation and tangible progression based on the stretch targets. During these complex times, the value of strong leadership understanding staff motivation varied.

The development team provided each staff member with the support to refocus and continue with the change management process. P4 stated that dedicated support from leadership was one of the overarching reasons behind the success of increase enrollment and revenues. P3 indicated that higher education is being dramatically affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. The campus shutdowns led to a quick change to remote learning, displaying the fragmented adoption of high-quality education technology and digital capabilities for the college. The tumultuous fall semester, complete with aborted campus

openings and widely diverging online and blended options, has only increased the pressure on all colleges and universities (Klempin & Karp, 2018). P1 indicated that a task force was created to analyze the current advising process and make recommendations for improvement. Administrators hired a team of skilled teachers and instructional designers. During Covid, staff informed the students that institution would adhere to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention guidelines as a method to let the students know that their safety was important to the school.

Kotter's (1995) model indicates key steps and actions that can motivate and enable the change process resulting in greater effectiveness and sustainability.

Administrators identifying various challenges and sharing them with department staff served to fulfill the first step in Kotter's change model: "Establish a sense of urgency."

According to Kotter (1995), "Establishing a sense of urgency is crucial to gaining needed cooperation" (p. 36). Kotter (1995) maintained that as much as 75% of employees need to believe that considerable change is essential for positive transition.

Klempin and Karp (2018) highlighted the reality that several classes of fortification are necessary to create changes so that organizations introduce strengthening tactics during change phases. Verbal reinforcement of behaviors that prompt action into the organizational change could increase worker replication of those new change behaviors. The importance of staff cooperation is particularly vital during organizational change.

Theme 2: Enhance Online Services

Online services emerged as the second most frequent factor affecting the study participants. Online services were a major factor for the study as all four participants expressed concerns over how to translate teaching in a brick-and-mortar classroom where the instructor is physically present to teaching online, especially when it came to the integrity of student work.

P1 indicated that many of the traditional teaching methods can transfer over to teaching online. P2 stated that a good teacher is a good teacher no matter whether they are online or in a traditional classroom because their goal is to help the students learn and succeed. Differentiation can be accomplished through a variety of assessment methods, alternate assignments, and various interactive activities (Aguilar-Smith & Gonzales, 2021). The participants expressed that there would be similarities between teaching online and teaching in a traditional setting and indicated that effective course management was essential. Additionally, participants celebrated the many avenues for differentiation of student instruction in an online environment.

P1 and P2 referenced emergency assistance and how it was implemented to aid current and upcoming students who have been affected during the pandemic. P3 and P4 discussed implementing enrollment policies and procedures, maintaining accreditation and professional standards, analyzing time-to-degree factors, and retention patterns. P4 further stated that the institutions learning communities approach represents an intentional structuring of students' time, credit, and learning experiences to foster more explicit intellectual connections between students and faculty, and between disciplines of

smaller subgroups of students, with a common sense of purpose, leading to an integration of classroom and no classroom experiences.

Kotter's (2007) sixth step involves planning for short-term wins. Organizational transformation takes an extensive amount of time, so the loss of momentum is a major factor. Staff will not continue to work hard for change if they see no evidence of the success of their efforts. Hence, it is important to plan for visible improvements, create those improvements, and recognize and reward those involved.

Aguilar-Smith and Gonzales (2021) stated that the curriculum should be well designed for online learning to maintain both student learning and student retention. The challenge facing the online instructor is to arrange the course content creating a coherent e-learning path using multiple technologies. The design of effective learning environments and embedding online technologies can serve as catalysts for faculty to experiment new things, explore creative alternatives and reflect on their own practices. For higher education institutions around the world to be competitive, evidence of faculty preparedness in terms of professionalism is necessary (Kang et al., 2020). Kotter (2007) maintained that successful efforts use the credibility afforded by short-term wins to tackle even bigger problems.

Theme 3: Improve Communication

Communication emerged as the third most frequent factor affecting study participants. Three participants discovered that although they felt they were much more connected with their students in a brick-and-mortar environment than in an online setting, frequent communication with students and strong student relationships were required to

make change work. P1 indicated that not seeing students on a day-to-day basis can cause problems if communication between the instructor and student is not established. P3 concurred and stated that in a brick-and-mortar, "I spent a lot of time building and you really don't have the opportunity to do that online, so trying to find different ways to do that is critical." The field of organizational behavior has long credited communication of the change method as a driver of change readiness among employees (Rafferty & Minbashian, 2019).

Participants further expressed that implementing online education service opportunities met their communication and learning styles. P2 stated that e-learning tools and activities such as group presentations and student-centered learning met their learning styles and goals to maximize learning tools, materials, and formats. The participants' experiences revealed that the inclusion of online collaborative activities met their learning and communication styles.

Reviewing the participants' organizational documents provided additional evidence in support of improving communication as a major theme. The need to ensure that faculty, administration, and students all knew of the changes, understood the new system, and why it had been chosen was addressed through a variety of communication channels. Representatives took responsibility for informing their colleagues and providing training opportunities. This was done through a variety of methods which included classroom training sessions, online training sessions, training sessions held during college faculty meetings, webinars provided by the vendor, construction and dissemination of materials, and one-on-one interactions to explain the system, answer

questions, and allay fears. All of these provided opportunities to inform the community about the upcoming changes, explain the new system, answer questions, and ensure continuity across the college. Both formal and informal feedback from faculty, administration, and staff indicated that these reports played an important role in helping move people forward.

Kotter's (2007) fourth step requires communication of the vision. This step involves using every opportunity possible to continuously communicate the change. Some key elements to effectively communicating the vision include leading by example, explanation, repetition, and the use of multiple forums (Kotter, 1995). As Kotter's model recommends repetition of the change vision and using different forums for communication, the various activities were helpful to staff because of its enhanced learning styles as well as the way they communicate with peers, instructors, and students. Several higher education institutions have also used Kotter's model to help institute major changes. Kayas et al. (2020) recommended use of the model in planning university sustainability programs while Hilton and Jacobson (2012) closely followed the Kotter model in ensuring faculty involvement to attain accreditation status for their business school. Borrego and Henderson (2014) suggested using the Kotter model in helping higher education instructors adapt to change in teaching STEM related classes. This provided a balance that ensured faculty interests and needs would be fully represented as well as ensuring that the right administrative department would have input and responsibility for implementation. An organization must present the vision to the stakeholders by outlining its goals and illustrating how the change system will achieve

such goals. Additionally, administrators must believe in the destination chosen, visually communicate the better future, and assist staff to visualize the same future.

Theme 4: Reinforce Technology

Technology emerged as the fourth most frequent factor affecting study participants. While all participants were confident in their ability handle technology, a few of them expressed that learning any new technology is a challenge. PI stated that "I felt confident that I could master the technology. I felt that my technological proficiency was strong and that I could learn any skills that I lacked". P3 indicated that the online environment technology is constantly changing, and it is just a part of the job to stay abreast of those changes and learn as changes progress.

Participant assumptions about being capable of managing the technology requirements were correct in that all participants agreed that although time consuming and frustrating at times, they had all been able to master the required technology and continued to learn new technology. All participants had confidence in their technology skills. P2 and P4 expressed similar opinions when they claimed that the teachers who they initially hired to teach online at this school all had very strong technology skills in the traditional setting. All participants made general statements that technical support would be influential. Three administrators felt technological functionality was important for staff.

While participants indicated that they had a positive experience with faculty and staff, they raised concerns to the academics about the institutional support. Their comments focused on the need for a stronger relationship and good commutation between

all work units involved in a subject design and development to ensure appropriate use of technologies in teaching. There is a learning and memorization process of technology involved with teaching in the virtual format. The participants indicated that there is a challenge with learning the technological aspect of teaching online, but it is necessary to teach online successfully. Working in curriculum teams created stronger links between technology support and curriculum design staff, making it a good experience. Reviewing the participants' organizational documents provided additional evidence in support of reinforcing technology as a major theme.

Kotter's (2007) third step involves creating a vision. Creating the vision requires the guiding coalition to develop a picture of what the future with the change will look like. The vision serves three important purposes. First, by illustrating the general direction of the change; second, by motivating people to act; and third, to help coordinate the actions which individuals will take (Kotter, 1995). Administrators' creating a vison should be able to easily to communicate and appeals to customers, stakeholders, and employees.

An effort to improve the organizational culture and climate in Boise State

University's School of Nursing was implemented using the Kotter model (Springer et al.,
2012). Sidorko (2008) described the successful integration of library and support services
at an Australian university using the Kotter model while Penrod and Harbor (1998)

explained how the University of Memphis changed the culture of its Information

Technology Department through applying the Kotter model. McGill University's medical

school followed the Kotter model while executing a faculty development program (Drewes et al., 2018).

Theme 5: Strengthen Training and Development

Training and development emerged as the fifth most frequent factor affecting study participants. The participant responses about training and development proved to be deeply informative towards a project direction. P1, P2, and P4 of the participants agreed training is needed and necessary when transitioning from brick-and-mortar teaching into implementing online education. These participants shared similar thoughts about certain components or factors involved in training of faculty transitioning into online instruction. P2 stated that instructors are typically offered staff development opportunities throughout the year to help improve their skills and keep abreast of current educational trends and issues.

Reviewing the participants' organizational documents provided additional evidence in support of strengthening training and development as a major theme. The participant's responses reflect that training and development is necessary to assist faculty and staff with organization and present the content in a way that ensures student learning. It is imperative to provide faculty and staff with access to teaching and learning resources through open content and help them integrate this content into their instruction.

According to the responses, training should include learning the methodology involved in online learning and the concepts with implementing online education. This evidence supports Kotter's (2007) fifth stage to Empower Staff for Broad-Based Action

which indicates the importance of providing necessary training. The first action in the fifth step requires removing any obstacles to the change. This may involve changing systems or structures within the organization. It may also involve allocating more money, time, or support needed to make the change effective.

Kotter's (2007) successful business experience in which he planned and helped drive the implementation of real organization wide changes within a wide variety of companies over a period of many years. Higher education institutions are facing a more dynamic and competitive environment than ever before, and it is likely that forces for change will accelerate over time. Kotter's eight-step model is a useful tool in analyzing change effort. The model helped administrators focus the direction of the change and inform the community in positive ways.

The research on ongoing faculty support notes that instructors who receive onthe-job support, guidance and feedback from a supervisor or a trained support person
apply new skills and strategies more frequently and appropriately and adopt a more
diverse range of instructional practices than instructors who do not receive such supports
(Wentworth et al., 2020). In addition, continuous input from faculty allows administrators
to provide the support that is responsive to faculty needs and desires (Wasserman &
Migdal, 2019). This allows for an open dialogue between faculty members and
administrators.

The findings of this study suggest that assessing staff perceptions of organizational change using Kotter's eight step change model can provide valuable information useful in planning and executing actions to improve change success. The

finding further suggests that in addition to structural and procedural changes, online education services had an impact on faculty and administrator roles, teaching and learning, and the community of students and faculty members who comprise the college. Kotter's (1995) model indicates key steps and actions that can motivate and enable the change process resulting in greater effectiveness and sustainability.

Applications to Professional Practice

The data collected and analyzed for this study provided valuable insight into how college administrators make business decisions on organizational change. Evidence emerging from the analysis of the collected data provided insight into the specific factors that affect how college administrators determine what types of business strategies to use and in what order they chose to provide educational services and increase revenue.

The findings from this study have important implications for professional practice, for institutions of all sizes. The driving message from participants was that regardless of the strategies and platforms administrators use, they must always stay focused on the end goal, which is to increase enrollment revenues. Moreover, the findings of this study can provide college administrators a better understanding of the challenges that transitioning institutions might face. A clearer understanding of the roles and responsibilities of college administrators could prove useful to faculty and staff when preparing for change and future ongoing staff development programs that help support faculty, staff, and students. Recognizing the qualities that contribute to effective transition of learning modalities could also be beneficial to administrators when seeking

to hire new faculty. When organizations implement effective strategic management, it can help them sustain their businesses for many years (Ansoff et al., 2018).

Additionally, it is essential that the administrators of college institutions recognize and assist to support their faculty due to the increased workload of the online setting. Although online faculty have more flexibility in an online environment, the time commitment because of the many forms of communication between the instructor and student, level of technology usage, and course management responsibilities can create a very challenging workload. Some of the existing data and research pertaining to organization change strategies is outdated, has conflicting findings, lacks information about specific online education service topics, and lacks information about enrollment revenues. Therefore, the findings of this study could add valuable information to the body of literature on organization change strategies and provide contributions to effective business practice processes.

Implications for Social Change

The findings from this study may foster social change by bringing positive support to individuals at a local, national, or global level. Social change is a positive change to lessen negativity on every level. Every small or large contribution supports and aids people and societies, and it is imperative that scholar practitioners strive for improvement. An improved organization change strategy illustrates social change because adult learners will be able to experience quality learning. Learners who have access to education can develop helpful skills and behaviors that can allow personal and professional opportunity. An expansion effort to offer additional online courses or online

degree programs creates social change because individuals who did not have access because of timing or location can now pursue their education, with a flexible schedule and can still carry out professional and personal responsibilities.

Recommendations for Action

The findings of this study provide insights that administrative professionals from various institutions of higher education can consider. The findings also provide pertinent information on strategies that may assist administrators enhance process improvements to institute change. These recommendations for action may be most helpful for smaller education institutions or those are just beginning to develop or implement an organization change strategy.

The first recommendation is to incorporate change and innovation. When an institution is going through change, it is essential that the organization establish effective leadership. A leader may initiate change, but it is the responsibility of organizational stakeholders to implement change processes over time. There is high value in taking a step back to investigate the literature and exposing a deeper understanding of a leader's use to initiate change, as that increases the ability to embrace organizational change more effectively.

Organizational change is a complex process, and all actions must be properly integrated. In this regard, the leadership plays a decisive role. Commonly, leaders recur to change when the organization faces difficulties, and therefore the process is envisioned as a hardship. Organizational leaders that display characteristics of personal development influence change in their organization because of their continued commitment to seek

growth for themselves and everyone around them. These types of leaders embrace change in their professional lives on a continuous basis and incorporate a continuum of learning and support in their leadership. Administrators should be educated to foresee the positive opportunities that change may and might bring and this way to give a stronger stimulation to employees and optimize organizational processes.

The second recommendation is to provide resources. Effective change generally requires adequate resources to support the process. A consistent finding in the literature is that change is not inexpensive. Strategic organizational change involves a reorganization of scarce organizational resources toward a host of new activities, including communicating the need for change, developing a plan or strategy for implementing the change, developing new processes, restructuring and reorganizing the organization, experimenting with innovations, testing, and training employees (Appelbaum et al., 2017).

The third recommendation is to include innovation in technology. Technology should be advanced, accessible, user friendly, and cost effective. Creative thinking, collaboration, and decision making should be conducted by administrators who will also be responsible for the implementation and delivery of new educational platforms. This is becoming more evident in higher education and the shift to a growing online learning delivery system that is responsive to the needs of the learner.

To support institution technology use in an online or blended setting, new technologies should not be introduced without consideration of the learning design implications. Academic staff should be provided consistent information and support to

produce, edit, and distribute learning materials. Software and hardware requirements associated with new technologies should be considered before implementation in core learning experiences. Evaluation processes are essential to determine teaching and technical requirement and impacts. Furthermore, space to explore new and emerging technologies for teaching should be provided.

The fourth recommendation is to enhance and continue to provide professional development opportunities. One of the prime reasons for lack of good faculty input in online courses is the lack of drive of educational institutions to create good training programs for their faculty. The emphasis is more on developing and deploying online courses rapidly to increase enrollment, rather than create a body of well-trained faculty to boost retention (Liu et al., 2020).

Professional development played a large part in altering faculty and administrator opinions about online education. At the request of the faculty, training was mandatory for full and part-time faculty members and administrators also chose to participate in the training. Participants revealed a need for preservice training in preparation for teaching online courses. Study participants all described very similar experiences with staff transitioning from teaching in a brick-and-mortar setting to teaching in an online environment. Participants also uncovered issues that they felt were specific to online learners. Professional development made it possible for faculty members and administrators at different levels to test the environment and their comfort level with it, reducing the anxiety related to learning a new process. It is further recommended that higher learning institutions and organizations should spend more effort on training

faculty and changing expectations for online courses and course designs that involve the use of various technologies and media to deliver course content.

Recommendations for Further Research

The findings of this study suggest recommendations for future research. Future studies may benefit from exploring learning communities, institutional support, and financial aid on the retention of enrollment. Student engagement in college has been identified as the key to success. However, how to promote engagement and help student stay engaged remain key questions in the educational research agenda. Institutions facing tightening budgets and controlling costs are often not able to innovate and implement experiments to improve the teaching and learning processes.

Faculty and institutional involvement, as well as the importance of creating more interactive and better-designed online course content in the retention equation, must also be studied. The causes of poor retention are many, and although there has been some headway in providing viable solutions to this issue, much deeper and wider studies are required to develop a better understanding of ways and means to solve enrollment issues and improve service opportunities and course designs to facilitate and benefit both learners and educators.

Furthermore, additional studies focusing on faculty and students' experiences should be conducted. Throughout this study, there appeared a recurring theme related to the students and support resources. Future research that might uncover a clearer understanding of how students adjust to organization change and the transition from brick-and-mortar to online learning could be beneficial.

Limitations

This qualitative study of the perspectives of administrators of organizational change strategies adds to the growing body of research related to online education. This study explored organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. Although there have been many studies related to administrators making similar transitions within college institutions, very few addressed the education service opportunities to enrollment revenue.

The limitations inherent in the research design aspects such as the study setting, the target population and the sample size may have impacted the generalizability of the study findings. The study was conducted at one college in Michigan. However, due to the differences in institutional characteristics, resources and cultures, the findings from a single-institution study might not generalize well to other institutions.

Other limitations include the recruitment process. The recruitment of participants proved challenging and required the use of multiple outreach strategies simultaneously. The data provided by the participants in the study was limiting due to the small sample size. Although participants were encouraged to provide honest, comprehensive responses, some information may have been held back.

Reflections

The process of working on the doctoral study was challenging and rewarding. I gained valuable experience in performing qualitative research that may be of benefit in my future professional and scholarly endeavors. As a professional in higher education, it

was important for me to have an expanded base of knowledge intellect and practical applications.

This study provided me with the opportunity to explore organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues; specifically exploring how and why administrators employed certain strategies, and how they believed those strategies ultimately influenced the organization's bottom line. Because of my professional experience in higher education, I had to be very cognizant of my personal biases, perceptions, and opinions. As described in Section 2 of this project, I took measures to prevent personal bias from influencing data. I set aside my personal biases and opinions. As a researcher in a field that I was already close to, I knew it was critical for me to remain as neutral and objective as possible throughout the entire research process. I found this to be a great exercise in neutrality.

As for the themes that emerged from the study data, I did not find any of them particularly surprising. Overall, results from this study were strongly aligned with the scholarly research discussed in Section 1, as well as the study's conceptual framework, which was Kotter's eight-stage process for leading change.

Conclusion

Organizational change occurs in every organization that deals with transition and development. Caves (2018) maintained that organizational change is directly related to the effectiveness of the organizational leader and their willingness for continuous learning. Strategic institutional change will only happen if there is a shared vision and

energy that touches all parts of an organization. Consequently, the proposed change must base on a consultative approach through which administrators to ask their employees to express their feeling and opinions. Reducing resistance to change among employees is basing on the managers' capacity and intelligence to manage the whole process.

Therefore, to achieve organizational change, managers must convince their employees for which reasons is change necessary and only afterwards to motivate them to apply the behavioral strategies.

Community colleges are known for their ability to change quickly, and their adoption of online education is no exception. As community college students enter the digitally driven workplace, the skills and expertise gained from learning discipline specific content through the online environment will inform their professional competencies and drive their performances at work. Rather than questioning whether online learning and services belongs in community colleges, institutions must continue to focus their efforts on increasing access, enhancing online education, and expanding student and faculty support systems to foster student success in the online learning environment.

If utilized properly, technology can help community college students succeed academically and prepare them for future career success. Making it through the abrupt transition to remote learning has required grit, resilience, and self-reliance on the part of administration, faculty, and students. However, what comes next is an opportunity for a more thoughtful, strategic transformation of higher education. Taking the time to rethink

and redesign the scope and scale of higher learning also frees up resources to invest in the very best of what makes campus learning uniquely valuable.

References

- Abdalla, M. M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66-98. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Adnan, M. (2018). Professional development in the transition to online teaching: The voice of entrant online instructors. *ReCALL*, *30*, 88–111. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0958344017000106
- Aguilar-Smith, S., & Gonzales, L. D. (2021). A study of community college faculty work expectations: Generous educators and their managed generosity. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 45(3), 184-204.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2019.1666062
- Allen, I. E., & Seaman, J. (2017). Digital learning compass: Distance education

 enrollment report 2017.

 https://onlinelearningsurvey.com/reports/digitallearningcompassenrollment2017.p

 df
- Amundsen, D., Msoroka, M., & Findsen, B. (2017). It's a case of access. The problematics of accessing research participants. *Waikato Journal of Education*, 22(4), 5-17. https://doi.org/10.15663/wje.v22i4.425
- Andrade, M. S., Miller, R. M., Kunz, M. B., & Ratliff, J. M. (2019). Online learning in schools of business: The impact of strategy on course enrollments. *Journal of Higher Education Theory & Practice*, 19(5), 48–57.

https://doi:10.33423/jhetp.v19i5.2280

- Ansoff, H. I., Kipley, D., Lewis, A. O., Helm-Stevens, R., & Ansoff, R. (2018). *Implanting strategic management*. Springer.
- Anthony, B., Kamaludin, A., Romli, A., Raffei, A. F. M., Nincarean A, L. E. P. D.,
 Abdullah, A., Ming, G. L., Shukor, N. A., Nordin, M. S., & Baba, S. (2019).
 Exploring the role of blended learning for teaching and learning effectiveness in institutions of higher learning: An empirical investigation. *Education and Information Technologies*, 24(6), 3433–3466. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10758-020-09477-z
- Appelbaum, S. H., Cameron, A., Ensink, F., Hazarika, J., Attir, R., Ezzedine, R., & Shekhar, V. (2017). Factors that impact the success of an organizational change: a case study analysis. *Industrial & Commercial Training*, 49(5), 213–230. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/ICT-02-2017-0006
- Arasaratnam-Smith, L. A., & Northcote, M. (2017). Community in online higher education: Challenges and opportunities. *Electronic Journal of e-Learning*, 15, 188-198. https://ejel.org
- Asarta, C. J., & Schmidt, J. R. (2017). Comparing student performance in blended and traditional courses: Does prior academic achievement matter? *The Internet and Higher Education*, 32, 29–38. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2016.08.002
- Baldwin, S., Ching, Y. H., & Hsu, Y.-C. (2018). Online course design in higher education: A review of national and statewide evaluation instruments.

- *TechTrends: Linking Research & Practice to Improve Learning*, 62, 46–57. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s11528-017-0215-z
- Baloh, J., Zhu, X., & Ward, M. M. (2018). Implementing team huddles in small rural hospitals: How does the Kotter model of change apply? *Journal of Nursing Management*, 26(5), 571–578. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/jonm.12584
- Bergh, D. D., Sharp, B. M., Aguinis, H., & Li, M. (2017). Is there a credibility crisis in strategic management research? Evidence on the reproducibility of study findings. Strategic Organization, 15(3), 423-436. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1476127017701076
- Blankenberger, B., & Williams, A. M. (2020). COVID and the impact on higher education: The essential role of integrity and accountability. *Administrative Theory & Praxis (Taylor & Francis Ltd)*, 42(3), 404–423. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10841806.2020.1771907
- Bokolo, A., Kamaludin, A., Romli, A., Mat Raffei, A. F., A, L. E. P. D. N., Abdullah, A., Leong Ming, G., A. Shukor, N., Shukri Nordin, M., & Baba, S. (2020). A managerial perspective on institutions' administration readiness to diffuse blended learning in higher education: Concept and evidence. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*, 52, 37–64. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/15391523.2019.1675203
- Borrego, M., & Henderson, C. (2014). Increasing the use of evidence-based teaching in STEM higher education: A comparison of eight change strategies. *Journal of*

- Engineering Education, 103(2), 220–252. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1002/jee.20040
- Brear, M. (2019). Process and outcomes of a recursive, dialogic member checking approach: A project ethnography. *Qualitative Health Research*, *29*(7), 944–957. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1049732318812448
- Bryan, C., Leeds, E., & Wiley, T. (2018). The cost of online education: Leveraging data to identify efficiencies. *Online Journal of Distance Learning*Administration, 21(2), 1-5. https://www.westga.edu/~distance/ojdla/
- Bryman, A., & Buchanan, D. A. (Eds.). (2018). *Unconventional methodology in organization and management research*. Oxford University Press.
- By, R. T., Kuipers, B., & Procter, S. (2018). Understanding teams in order to understand organizational change: The OTIC model of organizational change. *Journal of Change Management*, 18, 1–9. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/14697017.2018.1433742
- Carey, E., & Griffiths, C. (2017). Recruitment and consent of adults with intellectual disabilities in a classic grounded theory research study: Ethical and methodological considerations. *Disability & Society*, 32(2), 193-212. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/09687599.2017.1281793
- Castillo-Montoya, M. (2016). Preparing for interview research: The interview protocol refinement framework. *Qualitative Report*, 21(5), 811-831. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/
- Caves, L. (2018). Lifelong learners influencing organizational change. Studies in

- Business and Economics, 13, 21-28. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.2478/sbe-2018-0002
- Chung, E., Turnbull, D., & Chur-Hansen, A. (2017). Differences in resilience between 'traditional' and 'non-traditional' university students. *Active Learning in Higher Education*, 18(1), 77–87. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1469787417693493
- Clayton, K. E., Blumberg, F. C., & Anthony, J. A. (2018). Linkages between course status, perceived course value, and students' preference for traditional versus non-traditional learning environments. *Computer & Education*, 125, 175–181.

 https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2018.06.002
- Crick, J. M. (2020). Qualitative research in marketing: What can academics do better?

 **Journal of Strategic Marketing. 1-40. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/0965254X.2020.1743738
- Cumyn, A., Ouellet, K., Côté, A.-M., Francoeur, C., & St-Onge, C. (2018). Role of researchers in the ethical conduct of research: A discourse analysis from different stakeholder perspectives. *Ethics & Behavior*, 29, 621-636. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/10508422.2018.1539671
- Cundell, A., & Sheepy, E. (2018). Student perceptions of the most effective and engaging online learning activities in a blended graduate seminar. *Online Learning*, 22(3), 87–102. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i3.1467
- Cutri, R. M., & Mena, J. (2020). A critical reconceptualization of faculty readiness for online teaching. *Distance Education*, 41(3), 361–380.

https://doi.org/10.1080/01587919.2020.1763167

- Desouza, K. C., & Jacob, B. (2017). Big data in the public sector: Lessons for practitioners and scholars. *Administration & Society*, 49(7), 1043-1064. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0095399714555751
- DeVaney, S. A., Spangler, A., Lee, Y., & Delgadillo, L. (2018). Tips from the experts on conducting and reviewing qualitative research. *Family & Consumer Sciences**Research Journal, 46(4), 396–405. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/fcsr.12264
- Drewes, A., Henderson, J., & Mouza, C. (2018). Professional development design considerations in climate change education: Teacher enactment and student learning. *International Journal of Science Education*, 40(1), 67–89.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/09500693.2017.1397798
- Dumford, A. D., & Miller, A. L. (2018). Online learning in higher education: exploring advantages and disadvantages for engagement. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 30(3), 452. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s12528-018-9179-z
- Dumont, G., & Raggo, P. (2018). Faculty perspectives about distance teaching in the virtual classroom. *Journal of Nonprofit Education and Leadership*, 8, 41-61. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.18666/JNEL-2018-V8-I1-8372
- Elliott, D. C. (2016). The impact of self-beliefs on post-secondary transitions: The moderating effects of institutional selectivity. *Higher Education*, 71(3), 415-431. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10734-015-9913-7

- Esfijani, A. (2018). Measuring quality in online education: A meta-synthesis. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 32, 57-73. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08923647.2018.1417658
- Evans, C., Rees, G., Taylor, C., & Wright, C. (2017). Widening access to higher education: The reproduction of university hierarchies through policy enactment.

 *Journal of Education Policy, 34(1), 101-116. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08923647.2018.1417658
- Faupel, S., & Sub, S. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on employees during organizational change An empirical analysis. *Journal of Change Management*, 19(3), 145–166. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/14697017.2018.1447006
- Filak, V. F., & Nicolini, K. M. (2018). Differentiations in motivation and need satisfaction based on course modality: A self-determination theory perspective. *Educational Psychology*, 38(6), 772–784.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/01443410.2018.1457776
- Fusch, P., & Ness, L. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research.

 Qualitative Report, 20(9), 1408-1416. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3/
- Galdas, P. (2017). Revisiting bias in qualitative research: Reflections on its relationship with funding and impact. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16, 1–2. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1609406917748992
- Gentles, S. J., & Vilches, S. L. (2017). Calling for a shared understanding of sampling terminology in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative*

Methods, *16*, 1. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1609406917725678

- Gonzalez-Gonzalez, C. S., Infante-Moro, A., & Infante-Moro, J. C. (2020).

 Implementation of e-proctoring in online teaching: A study about motivational factors. *Sustainability*, *12*(8), 3488. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.3390/su12083488
- Guetterman, T. C., Babchuk, W. A., Smith, M. C. H., & Stevens, J. (2019).

 Contemporary approaches to mixed methods—grounded theory research: A field-based analysis. *Journal of Mixed Methods Research*, *13*(2), 179–195. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1558689817710877
 Hassan, A., Gallear, D., & Sivarajah, U. (2018). Critical factors affecting leadership: a higher education context. *Transforming Government*, *12*(1), 110–130. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/TG-12-2017-0075
- Hilton, M., & Jacobson, R. (2012). A lesson of lost political capital in public higher education: Leadership challenges in a time of needed organizational Change. *Contemporary Issues in Education Research*, 5(3), 227–232. https://doi.org/10.19030/cier.v5i3.7099
- Hobson, T. D., & Puruhito, K. K. (2018). Going the distance: Online course performance and motivation of distance learning students. *Online Learning*, 22(4), 129–140. https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v22i4.1516
- Hurlbut, A. R. (2018). Online vs. traditional learning in teacher education: A comparison of student progress. *American Journal of Distance Education*, *32*(4), 248–266.

https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08923647.2018.1509265

- Ibrahim, M. M., & Nat, M. (2019). Blended learning motivation model for instructors in higher education institutions. *International Journal of Educational Technology in Higher Education*, *16*(1), 1-21. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s41239-019-0145-2
- Jacob, W. J., & Gokbel, V. (2018). Global higher education learning outcomes and financial trends: Comparative and innovative approaches. *International Journal of Educational Development*, 58, 5–17.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijedudev.2017.03.001
- Kang, S. P., Chen, Y., Svihla, V., Gallup, A., Ferris, K., & Datye, A. K. (2020). Guiding change in higher education: an emergent, iterative application of Kotter's change model. *Studies in Higher Education*, 1-20.
 https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1741540
- Karagiozis, N. (2018). The complexities of the researcher's role in qualitative research:

 The power of reflexivity. *International Journal of Interdisciplinary Educational Studies, 13*(1), 19-31. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.18848/2327-011X/CGP/v13i01/19-31
- Karbwang, J., Koonrungsesomboon, N., Torres, C. E., Jimenez, E. B., Kaur, G., Mathur,
 R., Sholikhah, E. N., Wanigatunge, C., Wong, C.-S., Yimtae, K., Malek, M. A.,
 Fouzi, L. A., Ali, A., Chan, B. Z., Chandratilake, M., Chiew, S. C., Chin, M. Y.
 C., Gamage, M., & Gitek, I., ... FERCAP Multi-Country Res Team. (2018). What information and the extent of information research participants need in informed

- consent forms: a multi-country survey. *BMC Medical Ethics*, *19*. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1186/s12910-018-0318-x
- Kayas, O. G., Assimakopoulos, C., & Hines, T. (2020). Student evaluations of teaching: Emerging surveillance and resistance. *Studies in Higher Education*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2020.1725875
- Kebritchi, M., Lipschuetz, A., & Santiague, L. (2017). Issues and challenges for teaching successful online Courses in higher education: A literature Review. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, 46, 4–29.

 https://doi.org/10.1177/0047239516661713
- Kelly, B., Margolis, M., McCormack, L., LeBaron, P. A., & Chowdhury, D. (2017).
 What affects people's willingness to Participate in qualitative research? An experimental comparison of five incentives. *Field Methods*, 29(4), 333–350.
 https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1525822X17698958
- King, S., Hopkins, M., & Cornish, N. (2018). Can models of organizational change help to understand 'success' and 'failure' in community sentences? Applying Kotter's model of organizational change to an Integrated Offender Management case study. *Criminology & Criminal Justice: An International Journal*, 18(3), 273–290. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1748895817721274
- Klamer, P., Bakker, C., & Gruis, V. (2017). Research bias in judgement bias studies: A systematic review of valuation judgement literature. *Journal of Property**Research*, 34(4), 285-304. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/09599916.2017.1379552

- Klempin, S., & Karp, M. M. (2018). Leadership for transformative change: Lessons from technology-mediated reform in broad-access colleges. *Journal of Higher Education*, 89(1), 81–105. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/00221546.2017.1341754
- Kotter, J. (1995). Leading change: why transformation efforts fail. *Harvard Business Review*, 73(2), 55-67. https://www.hbr.org
- Kotter, J. P. (2007). Leading change: Why transformation efforts fail. *Harvard Business Review*, 85(1), 96-103. https://www.hbr.org
- Kotter, J. P. (2012). Leading change. Harvard Business Review Press.
- Kumi-Yeboah, A., Yuan, G., & Dogbey, J. (2017). Online collaborative learning activities: The perceptions of culturally diverse graduate students. *Online Learning*, 21, 5-28. https://olj.onlinelearningconsortium.org/index.php/olj/index
- Lee, K. (2017). Rethinking the accessibility of online higher education: A historical review. *Internet and Higher Education*, 33, 15–23. https://doiorg.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2017.01.001
- Lenert, K. A., & Janes, D. P. (2017). The incorporation of quality attributes into online course design in higher education. *International Journal of E-Learning & Distance Education, 32*, 1-14. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1146391.pdf
 Levitt, H. M., Bamberg, M., Creswell, J. W., Frost, D. M., Josselson, R., & Suárez Orozco, C. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for qualitative primary, qualitative meta-analytic, and mixed methods research in psychology: The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. *American*

- *Psychologist*, 73(1), 26-46. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1037/amp0000151
- Levy, D. (2017). Online, blended and technology-enhanced learning: Tools to facilitate community college student success in the digitally-driven workplace.

 *Contemporary Issues in Education Research, 10, 255–262.

 https://eric.ed.gov/contentdelivery/servlet/ERICServlet?accno=EJ1159944
- Liu, Q., Geertshuis, S., & Grainger, R. (2020). Understanding academics' adoption of learning technologies: A systematic review. *Computers & Education*, 151. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2020.103857
- Maher, C., Hadfield, M., Hutchings, M., & De Eyto, A. (2018). Ensuring rigor in qualitative data analysis. A design research approach to coding combining NVivo with traditional material methods. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 17(1). https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1609406918786362
- Manning-Ouellette, A., & Black, K. M. (2017). Learning leadership: A qualitative study on the differences of student learning in online versus traditional courses in a leadership studies program. *Journal of Leadership Education*, *16*(2), 59–79. https://doi.org/10.12806/V16/I2/R4
- Mansbach, J., & Austin, A. E. (2018). Nuanced perspectives about online teaching: Mid-Career and senior faculty voices reflecting on academic work in the digital age.

 *Innovative Higher Education, 43(4), 257–272. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1007/s10755-018-9424-4
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). Designing qualitative research (6th ed.). Sage

Publications.

- Martin, F., Wang, C., & Sadaf, A. (2018). Student perception of helpfulness of facilitation strategies that enhance instructor presence, connectedness, engagement and learning in online courses. *The Internet and Higher Education*, 37, 52–65. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.iheduc.2018.01.003
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24, 9-18. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mullen, C. A. (2020). Does modality matter? A comparison of aspiring leaders' learning online and face-to-face. *Journal of Further and Higher Education*, *44*(5), 670-688. https://doi.org/10.1080/0309877X.2019.1576859

National Center for Education Statistics. (2006). *Digest of education statistics*, 2005 (NCES2006-005). http://nces.ed.gov/ipeds/.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2018). *Digest of Education Statistics*, 2016. https://nces.ed.gov/fastfacts/display.asp?id=80.

National Commission for the Protection of Human Subjects of Biomedical and Behavioral Research. (1979). *The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the Protection of human subjects of research*. Washington, DC: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/Belmont.html

Nelson, J. (2017). Using conceptual depth criteria: addressing the challenge of reaching saturation in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research*, 17(5), 554–570.

https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1468794116679873

Okunoye, A., Frolick, M., & Crable, E. (2006). ERP implementation in higher education: An account of pre-implementation and implementation phases. *Journal of Cases on Information Technology*, 8(2), 110-132.

http://dx.doi.org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.4018/jcit.2006040106

- Page, L., & Schoder, J. (2019). Making change last: leadership is the key. *Journal of Business Strategy*, 40(2), 32–41. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/JBS-01-2018-0003
- Palumbo, R., & Manna, R. (2019). Making educational organizations able to change: A literature review. *International Journal of Educational Management*, *33*(4), 734–752. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/IJEM-02-2018-0051
- Penrod, J. I., & Harbor, A. F. (1998). Building a client-focused IT organization. *Campus-Wide Information Systems*, 15(3), 91–102. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1108/10650749810227161
 Project Management Institute. (2000). *Project management body of knowledge*. Automated Graphic Systems.
- Quezada, R. L., Talbot, C., & Quezada-Parker, K. B. (2020). From bricks and mortar to remote teaching: A teacher education program's response to COVID-19. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 46(4), 472–483. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/02607476.2020.1801330.
- Rafferty, A. E., & Minbashian, A. (2019). Cognitive beliefs and positive emotions about change: Relationships with employee change readiness and change-supportive

- behaviors. *Human Relations*, 72(10), 1623–1650. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/0018726718809154
- Rashid, Y., Rashid, A., Warraich, M. A., Sabir, S. S., & Waseem, A. (2019). Case study method: A step-by-step guide for business researchers. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 18. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1609406919862424
- Renner, T., Muller, J., & Kao, O. (2018). Endolith: A blockchain-based framework to enhance data retention in cloud storages. 2018 26th Euromicro International
- Conference on Parallel, Distributed and Network-Based Processing (PDP). 627 634.

 https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1109/PDP2018.2018.00105

 Rizvi, S. (2019). Using fiction to reveal truth: Challenges of using vignettes to understand participant experiences within qualitative research. Forum: Qualitative Social Research, 20(1), 353–370. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.17169/fqs-20.1.3101
- Rose, J., & Johnson, C. W. (2020). Contextualizing reliability and validity in qualitative research: toward more rigorous and trustworthy qualitative social science in leisure research. *Journal of Leisure Research*, 51(4), 432-451.

 https://doi.org/10.1080/00222216.2020.1722042
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). Research methods for business students (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Serrano, D. R., Dea, A. M. A., Gonzalez, B. E., Serrano, G. A., & Lalatsa, A. (2019).

 Technology-enhanced learning in higher education: How to enhance student

- engagement through blended learning. *European Journal of Education*, *54*(2), 273–286. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1111/ejed.12330
 Shahu, A., Schwartz, J., Perez, M., Bernheim, S. M., Krumholz, H. M., & Spatz, E. S. (2017). Discerning quality: An analysis of informed consent documents for common cardiovascular procedures. *BMJ Quality & Safety*, *26*, 569-571. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjqs-2016-005663
- Sidorko, P. E. (2008). Transforming library and higher education support services: Can change models help? *Library Management 29*(4): 307–318. https://doi.org/10.1108/01435120810869093
- Sim, J., Saunders, B., Waterfield, J., & Kingstone, T. (2018). Can sample size in qualitative research be determined a priori? *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 21(1), 619-634. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/13645579.2018.1454643
- Specht, J., Kuonath, A., Pachler, D., Weisweiler, S., & Frey, D. (2018). How change agents' motivation facilitates organizational change: Pathways through meaning and organizational identification. *Journal of Change Management*, 18(3), 198–217. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/14697017.2017.1378696
- Springer, P. J., Clark, C. M., Strohfus, P., & Belcheir, M. (2012). Using transformational change to improve organizational culture and climate in a school of nursing. *Journal of Nursing Education*, *51*(2), 81-88.

 https://doi.org/10.3928/01484834-20111230-02
- Susanto, R., Rachmadtullah, R., & Rachbini, W. (2020). Technological and pedagogical

- models: Analysis of factors and measurement of learning outcomes in education. *Journal of Ethnic and Cultural Studies*, 7(2), 1-14. http://dx.doi.org/10.29333/ejecs/
- Thomas, D. R. (2017). Feedback from research participants: Are member checks useful in qualitative research? *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *14*(1), 23-41.

 https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/14780887.2016.1219435

 Thompson, S., Grocke, D., & Dileo, C. (2017). The use of group descriptive phenomenology within a mixed methods study to understand the experience of music therapy for women with breast cancer. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, *26*(4), 320-337. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08098131.2016.1239648
- Tokareva, E. A., Smirnova, Y. V., & Orchakova, L. G. (2019). Innovation and communication technologies: Analysis of the effectiveness of their use and implementation in higher education. *Education & Information Technologies*, 24(5), 3219. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10639-019-09922-2
- Trnka, S. (2017). The fifty minute ethnography: Teaching theory through fieldwork.

 **Journal of Effective Teaching, 17(1), 28-34. https://www.uncw.edu/jet/
- Vo, H. M., Zhu, C., & Diep, N. A. (2017). The effect of blended learning on student performance at course-level in higher education: A meta-analysis. *Studies in Educational Evaluation*, 53, 17–28. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1016/j.stueduc.2017.01.002
- Wasserman, E., & Migdal, R. (2019). Professional development: Teachers' attitudes in

- online and traditional training Courses. *Online Learning*, 23, 132-143. https://doi.org/ 10.24059/olj.v23i1.1299
- Watkins, D. C. (2017). Rapid and rigorous qualitative data analysis: The "RADaR" technique for applied research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 16(1). https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1177/1609406917712131
- Wei, Y., Shi, Y., Yang, H. H., & Liu, J. (2017). Blended learning versus traditional learning: A study on students' learning achievements and academic press. 2017 International Symposium on Educational Technology (ISET), Educational Technology (ISET), 2017 International Symposium on, ISET, 219–223. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1109/ISET.2017.57
- Wentworth, D. K., Behson, S. J., & Kelley, C. L. (2020). Implementing a new student evaluation of teaching system using the Kotter change model. *Studies in Higher Education*, 45(3), 511-523. https://doi.org/10.1080/03075079.2018.1544234
- Williams, P. (2020). The "Collaborative Personal Statement": a more inclusive method of data-gathering than audio recording interviews with vulnerable people. *European Journal of Special Needs Education*, 35(4), 466–481. https://doi-org.ezp.waldenulibrary.org/10.1080/08856257.2019.1706256
- Yin, R. K. (2018). Case study research and applications: Design and methods (6th ed.). Sage Publications.

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

What you will do	What you will say—script
Introduce the interview and set the tone	Script: I am conducting a study on organization change strategies college administrators use to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. I believe your input Would be helpful
 Watch for non-verbal queues Ask follow-up probing questions to get more in depth 	 What organization change strategies did you use to increase online education service opportunities? What served as an organization catalyst to use organization change strategies to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues? What experiences relating to change management did you use during the planning phase to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues? What experiences relating to change management did you use during the implementation phase to provide online education service opportunities? What organization change strategies worked best to develop and implement online education service opportunities? How was the effectiveness of the organization change strategies to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenue evaluated? What principal barriers did you experience when implementing organizational change strategies to develop and implement online
	enrollment revenues?

- 8. What did you do to overcome principal barriers to implementing organizational change strategies to develop and implement online service opportunities?
- 9. What additional information would you like to share about organizational change strategies used to develop and implement online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues?

Wrap up interview thanking participant	Script: Thank you for your time today
Schedule follow-up member checking interview	Script: You should hear back from me soon to schedule a follow up discussion.
Introduce the follow up interview	Script: I would like to have more time with you to share feedback.
Share a copy of the succinct synthesis for each individual question	Script: I am going to go over some questions with you.
Bring in probing questions related to other information that you may have found—note the information must be related so that you are	 Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.
	Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.
probing and adhering to the IRB approval.	 Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.
	4. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.
	 Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.

Walk through each question, read the interpretation and ask:

Did I miss anything? Or, what would you like to add?

- 6. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.
- 7. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.
- 8. Question and succinct synthesis of the interpretation—perhaps one paragraph or as needed.

Appendix B: Research Participant Recruitment Script

Dear Invitee,

My name is Denise Williams. I am a doctoral student at Walden University's Doctor of Business Administration Program. I am kindly requesting your participation in a doctoral research study that I am conducting titled: College Administrators Strategies to Implement Online Education Services for Increasing Enrollment Revenues. The intention is to explore on organization change strategies college administrators use to increase online education service opportunities to increase enrollment revenues. Participation is completely voluntary, and you may withdraw from the study at any time. If you would like to participate in the study, please contact me directly.

Respectfully,

Denise Williams, MSA, M.A, Doctoral Student, Walden University